

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Perceptions of Human Services Case Workers Regarding Culturally Sensitive, Evidence-Based Services in Child Welfare

John Dyrkacz Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Social Work Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

John Dyrkacz

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

> Review Committee Dr. Sarah Matthey, Committee Chairperson, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Randy Heinrich, Committee Member, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Richard Rogers, University Reviewer, Human and Social Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Perceptions of Human Services Case Workers Regarding Culturally Sensitive, Evidence-Based Services in Child Welfare

Abstract

by

John Dyrkacz

MA, Walden University, 2019

MA, Webster University, 2008

BS, The Union Institute and University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human and Social Services

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

The perceptions of human services case workers toward their racial minority clients may affect the quality of service that racial minority families who are involved in the child welfare system receive. In the child welfare system, some African American families are not offered services that are culturally sensitive or tailored to their race or ethnicity. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American and racial minority clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. Family systems theory was used to frame this study. Semistructured telephonic interviews were conducted with 12 human services case workers. These interviews were recorded, transcribed, and hand coded for analysis using Saldana's inductive coding process. Ten themes were identified: (a) importance of cultural competency, (b) effective evidence-based services, (c) human services case workers' bias, (d) lack of diversity in human services case workers, (e) cultural upbringing and environment, (f) Families First Act and African American clients, (g) cultural awareness and sensitivity training, (h) lack of trust in human services case workers, (i) rural versus urban areas and population, and (j) trust and rapport building. This study may promote positive social change by providing a better understanding of human services case workers' perceptions and their experiences of offering culturally appropriate and evidence-based services to African American and racial minority families.

Perceptions of Human Services Case Workers Regarding Culturally Sensitive, Evidence-

Based Services in Child Welfare

by

John Dyrkacz

MA, Walden University, 2019

MA, Webster University, 2008

BS, The Union Institute and University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human and Social Services

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife, Jannifer David, who supported me and stood by me through every single step of this journey; to my daughter, Tashianna Torres; to my family; and to human services case workers whose job at keeping children safe may seem insurmountable at times.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to the human services case workers who volunteered to give me their time, knowledge, honesty, experience, and participation in my study. I would also like to thank Walden University and my PhD committee including Dr. Randy Heinrich and especially my mentor and chair, Dr. Sarah Matthey, for her direction, knowledge, and invaluable help throughout this journey.

| Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study | 1 |
|---|----|
| Background | 2 |
| Problem Statement | 5 |
| Purpose of the Study | 8 |
| Research Question | 9 |
| Conceptual Framework | 9 |
| Nature of the Study | 10 |
| Definitions | 12 |
| Assumptions | 12 |
| Scope and Delimitations | 13 |
| Limitations | 14 |
| Significance | 16 |
| Summary | 17 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 19 |
| Literature Search Strategy | 20 |
| Conceptual Framework | 21 |
| First Tenet of Family Systems Theory | 22 |
| Second Tenet of Family Systems Theory | 23 |
| Third Tenet of Family Systems Theory | 24 |
| Barriers for Human Services Case Workers Using Family Systems Theory. | 26 |
| Application of Family Systems Theory in the Current Study | 27 |

Table of Contents

| Literature Review | |
|--|----|
| Turnover | 29 |
| Lack of Advancement | |
| Evidence-Based Services | |
| Cultural Sensitivity | |
| Children Who Identify as LGBTQ+ | 41 |
| Teenage Pregnancy | 43 |
| Noncustodial Fathers | 44 |
| Cultural Competence With African American Families | 46 |
| Summary | 48 |
| Chapter 3: Research Method | 49 |
| Research Design and Rationale | 49 |
| Role of the Researcher | 51 |
| Methodology | 53 |
| Participation Selection | 53 |
| Procedures | 55 |
| Instrumentation | 56 |
| Expert Panel Review | 57 |
| Data Analysis Plan | 58 |
| Issues of Trustworthiness | 60 |
| Credibility | 61 |
| Transferability | 61 |

| Dependability | 62 |
|---|----|
| Confirmability | 62 |
| Ethical Procedures | 63 |
| Summary | 64 |
| Chapter 4: Results | 66 |
| Setting | 66 |
| Demographics | 67 |
| Data Collection | 67 |
| Data Analysis | 68 |
| Evidence of Trustworthiness | 70 |
| Credibility | 70 |
| Transferability | 71 |
| Dependability | 71 |
| Confirmability | 72 |
| Results | 72 |
| Theme 1: Importance of Cultural Competency | 73 |
| Theme 2: Effective Evidence-Based Services | 77 |
| Theme 3: Human Services Case Workers' Biases | 78 |
| Theme 4: Lack of Diversity in Human Services Case Workers | 81 |
| Theme 5: Cultural Upbringing and Environment | 83 |
| Theme 6: Families First Act and African American Clients | 86 |
| Theme 7: Cultural Awareness and Sensitivity Training | |

| Theme 8: Lack of Trust in Human Services Case Workers | 93 |
|---|-----|
| Theme 9: Rural Versus Urban Areas and Population | 96 |
| Theme 10: Trust and Rapport Building | 98 |
| Discrepant Cases | 101 |
| Summary | 101 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 102 |
| Interpretation of the Findings | 103 |
| Theme 1: Importance of Cultural Competency | 103 |
| Theme 2: Effective Evidence-Based Services | 104 |
| Theme 3: Human Services Case Workers' Biases | 105 |
| Theme 4: Lack of Diversity in Human Services Case Workers | 107 |
| Theme 5: Cultural Upbringing and Environment | 108 |
| Theme 6: Families First Act and African American Clients | 110 |
| Theme 7: Cultural Awareness and Sensitivity Training | 112 |
| Theme 8: Lack of Trust in Human Services Case Workers | 113 |
| Theme 9: Rural Versus Urban Areas and Population | 115 |
| Theme 10: Trust and Rapport Building | 116 |
| Limitations of the Study | 118 |
| Recommendations | 119 |
| Implications | 121 |
| Conclusion | 122 |
| References | |

| Appendix A: Interview Protocol | |
|--------------------------------|--|
| | |
| Appendix B: Recruitment Flyer | |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

The perceptions of human services case workers toward their clients may affect the children and families whom they serve. Human services case workers often serve marginalized families and individuals who are at their most vulnerable when they are involved in the child welfare system (Gourdine, 2019). These marginalized families may have their own cultural traditions, beliefs, and value systems that may differ from their human services case worker (Richard & Lee, 2019). Human services case workers and social workers can provide culturally informed services to all individuals regardless of race, ethnicity, origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, or mental or physical ability (National Association of Social Workers, 2021). Human services case workers may not offer culturally competent or evidence-based services to their clients due to the characteristics of the family (Richard & Lee, 2019). However, there may be problems in providing culturally competent and evidence-based services from human services case workers. There was limited research on providing culturally competent and evidencebased services to clients as it pertains to human services case workers practicing in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States.

The results of this study may be used to improve the cultural awareness and the delivery of evidence-based services by human services case workers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system. The results of this study may lead to positive social change by increasing the cultural awareness of human services case workers. Culturally sensitive, evidence-based services can be used to serve the needs of families involved with the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the

United States. In Chapter 1, I present how using culturally sensitive, evidence-based services by human services case workers may improve the outcomes for their clients in the child welfare system. This chapter presents this study's background, problem statement, purpose, research question, framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, delimitations, limitations, significance of the study, and the summary.

Background

Many human services case workers in the child welfare system want to promote child safety, well-being, and permanency. Historically, once families become involved in the child welfare system (whether through voluntary services, court-ordered services, or children removed from their parent's homes), human services case workers are assigned to families to offer services (Fong, 2017). Human services case workers create case plans that are the blueprint of the tasks and goals that parents need to complete for their children to safely remain in their home or for the reunification of the children with their parents (Fluke et al., 2016; Fong, 2017). Human services case workers can provide evidence-based, culturally appropriate services to improve services to families involved in the child welfare system. If human services professionals do not offer evidence-based, culturally appropriate services, they may not be adequately servicing their clients (Olcoń, 2019). When human services case workers do not offer evidence-based, culturally appropriate services to their clients, they may provide inadequate services to the children and families involved in the child welfare system (Gourdine, 2019). Culturally appropriate, evidence-based services can afford families the opportunities to address the needs that brought them into the child welfare system and achieve the goals that are

required by their human service case workers (Olcoń, 2019). Human services workers can tailor their services to all of the families and clients they serve.

African American families and other racial minority families involved in the child welfare system may feel that they do not receive adequate services. In addition, these families may feel that they have been marginalized and discriminated against by their human services case worker (Olcoń, 2019). Structural barriers such as lack of cultural awareness of social workers, institutional racism, and lack of adequate resources that serve diverse populations may prevent African American and other racial minority families from receiving culturally sensitive, evidence-based services (Garcia et al., 2019; Olcoń, 2019). When the human service case workers desire to treat all clients the same, the delivery of services may not be effective (Gourdine, 2019). The lack of cultural competence and misunderstanding among human services case workers, coupled with high caseloads, may contribute to human services case workers not offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to racial minority families, which may create adverse outcomes (Cénat et al., 2021). The adverse outcomes that may occur when services are not evidence based and culturally appropriate include children encountering unsafe situations in their homes, children being placed outside of their homes with relatives, or children being placed in foster care (Cénat et al., 2021). Often when racial minority children are removed from their homes, they may not be reunified with their parents and may remain in foster care much longer (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). By offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services that are geared toward the individual family and client, human services case workers can build trust and

understanding that improves the relationship between the client and the human services case worker.

When families become involved with the child welfare system due to neglect and/or child abuse, the Department of Human Services may become responsible for ensuring the safety, well-being, and permanency for the children in the home. Human services case workers are responsible for ensuring safety within the family (King et al., 2017). One way for the human services worker to work in partnership with the family is to build trust and rapport between themselves and the family (Alvarez-Hernandez & Choi, 2017; Olcoń, 2019). Garcia et al. (2019) highlighted the need to implement evidence-based services to build relationships with families and develop services that adequately serve racially and ethnically diverse populations. Culturally appropriate, evidence-based services can provide families with the necessary tools and opportunities to address the needs that brought them into the child welfare system and achieve the goals that are required by their human services case workers (Olcoń, 2019). Families who are not afforded the opportunity to address their needs through culturally appropriate, evidence-based services may struggle throughout their time in the child welfare system. Child safety and well-being may not be accomplished, leading to children being removed from their parent's care.

There was a gap in knowledge regarding how human services case workers' perceptions and attitudes toward providing culturally appropriate, evidence-based services may impact their actions, intentions, and behaviors while providing services to their African American and racial minority clients (Garcia et al., 2019). Further research to fill this gap in knowledge was warranted. The current study was needed to explore whether the use of culturally appropriate and evidence-based services by human services case workers can help reduce the lack of equality of African American and racial minority families in the child welfare system.

Problem Statement

In the child welfare system, some African American families are offered services that are not culturally tailored to race and ethnicity. Human services case workers who do not provide culturally appropriate services to African American families involved in child welfare may provide inadequate services to their clients (Gourdine, 2019). These inadequate services may lead to African American children being removed from their parents. Once removed, these children may not be reunified with their parents in a timely manner, and African American children may remain in foster care longer (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). Human services case workers may not offer culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to American Africans families in the child welfare system because they may not believe that their clients' problems can be solved. Alternatively, the client may refuse to work with the human services case worker (Akin et al., 2016; Cénat et al., 2021; Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017; Richard & Lee, 2019). African American families may be negatively impacted when not offered culturally sensitive, evidencebased services by their human services case worker.

Human services case workers may benefit their African American clients by offering culturally sensitive, evidence-based services. Human services case workers can tailor their evidence-based services and referrals to incorporate cultural awareness for services such as poverty, parenting, mental health issues, and substance abuse treatment (Cheng & Lo, 2018). Culturally appropriate services allow families to address the needs that brought them into the child welfare system and achieve goals that are required by their human services case workers (Olcoń, 2019). Often the cultural competence of the human services case worker determines the racial minority clients' satisfaction level (Carmack & Ahmed, 2019). When the human services case workers provide African American and other racial minority clients culturally appropriate services, the clients' outcomes are more likely to improve (Azzopardi, 2020). There is a positive link between African American and other racial minority clients' perception of the human services case workers' cultural competence and clients' improvements in their social interactions, home performance, and management of life problems (Olcoń, 2019). A positive relationship between human services case workers and African American and other racial minority clients and other racial minority clients (Olcoń, 2019). A positive relationship between human services case workers and African American and other racial minority clients and other racial minority clients and the services case workers and African American and other racial minority clients (Olcoń, 2019). A positive relationship between human services case workers and African American and other racial minority clients and the rac

Although there was research on the issues concerning African American children in the child welfare system, including sociodemographic and racial discrimination, there was a need to explore the perceptions of human services case workers and the culturally appropriate and evidence-based services as factors that may influence the provision of services. Lovato-Hermann et al. (2017) explored whether the race or ethnicity of the clients influenced the human services case workers regarding the types of services that were referred to the client through the eyes and perception of the clients. Olcoń (2019) explored the perceptions of racial minority clients who stated that they experienced marginalization, discrimination, and bias from human services case workers. Olcoń determined that there were structural barriers such as human services case workers' lack of cultural awareness and institutional racism. Garcia et al. (2019) explored implementing evidence-based services in the child welfare system with diverse populations and determined that there are multiple challenges with implementing evidence-based practice interventions. Garcia et al. stated that child welfare directors and scholars need to overcome their differences in the intervention outcomes goals to decrease child behavior problems or promote child safety and permanence. Garcia et al. further determined the need for better engagement with families and for case workers to refer African American and racial minority families to evidence-based services. Lastly, Garcia et al. determined the need for better trained, culturally competent case workers, community partners, and service providers.

Although scholars have explored issues concerning culturally appropriate and evidence-based services, I found no literature that addressed the human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families in the child welfare system to improve family care services. According to Garcia et al. (2019), there is a gap in the literature regarding how human services case workers' attitudes and perceptions toward evidence-based practices and services impact their actions, intentions, and behaviors in providing culturally appropriate services to improve services offered to families. In the current study, I aimed to fill the gap in the literature regarding how the perceptions of human services case workers providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to their African American clients may improve services offered to the families in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. The results from this study provided information that may assist other human services case workers, as well as gain support of the stakeholders and community partners, in promoting culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families. The population for this basic qualitative study was 12 nonlicensed human services case workers who developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. The in-depth semistructured telephonic interviews were conducted with participants who served African American families in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. This study contributed to filling the gap in the literature regarding how the perceptions of human services case workers providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to their African American clients may improve services offered to the families. The study may also help increase the knowledge of other human services case workers and stakeholders in improving services to African American. Through provision of information on the benefits of using culturally sensitive, evidence-based services and referrals, African American families may be better served and child safety and well-being could be improved in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States.

Research Question

What are nonlicensed human services case workers' perceptions of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the family systems theory. M. Bowen created the family systems theory in 1966 to examine family functioning. The six original tenets of Bowen's family systems theory included differentiation of self, triangles, nuclear family emotional system, family projection process, multigenerational transmission process, and sibling position (M. Bowen, 1966). M. Bowen added two additional tenets to the family systems theory in 1976 to include emotional cutoff and societal emotional process. When exposed to each tenet, family members experience anxiety at different levels, and prolonged exposure to anxiety can cause stress and family dysfunction (M. Bowen, 1966). Human services case workers engage with families where abuse or neglect has occurred. Sometimes, these families are experiencing various levels of family dysfunction. When a human services case worker enters the family dynamic, there may be new stressors and anxiety for that family in the tenets of emotional cutoff and societal emotional process. Introducing a new person in the family dynamic can either hinder the emotional system or improve and change the emotional system in the family. Human services case workers who offer culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to the family may help to promote a successful introduction into the family.

Family systems theory was chosen as the conceptual framework for this study due to the similarities in the structure, functions, and capacity of the child welfare system and family systems. Child welfare is a system for human services case workers that is based on perceptions, boundaries, and relationships that align with the family systems theory (Thompson et al., 2019). The relationship between a human services case worker and their client may be a factor in deciding the client's success or failure in the child welfare system (Thompson et al., 2019). One of the tenets of family systems theory was to work with the family as a group, which allows individuals in the family to resolve their problems (M. Bowen, 1966). Human services case workers can work within families to keep children safe by offering culturally appropriate services to families in the child welfare system (Olcoń, 2019). Family systems theory was a useful model for understanding the perceptions of human services case workers in providing culturally appropriate services to clients to improve family services, as well as an appropriate lens for understanding their roles in their involvement with the family. The relationship between the human services case workers and the family is an integral part in assessing the family dynamic and the family functioning system. Family systems theory was used in this study as a lens to explore human services case workers' perception and relationship with their clients.

Nature of the Study

The research design for this study was a generic qualitative design. In a generic design approach, the researcher can examine the participants' perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of their personal experiences in the real world (Novak et al., 2021; Percy et al.,

2015). According to Kahlke (2018), generic qualitative approaches allow the researcher to be more flexible and less pedantic and offer more creativity with alignment in their research design. Researchers may use a generic qualitative design to acquire data about participants' perceptions of their experiences by stimulating the participants' ideas and responses from the experiences on a specific topic (Novak et al., 2021). According to Powell and Thomas (2021), a generic qualitative approach allows the researcher to understand the participants' subjective opinions and their reflections of their real-world experiences by accentuating the participants' perceptions and feelings as opposed to the actual meaning of their experiences. I selected the generic qualitative approach because the purpose of the study was to understand the perceptions of human services case workers who may be providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families.

In this study, I explored human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to improve services to families. I used purposeful sampling to gain information-rich data from the population who had central knowledge and information on the phenomenon (see Novak et al., 2021; Powell & Thomas 2021). I gained access to the participants by recruiting current, nonlicensed human services case workers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States who had provided service to African American families. I recruited the participants using social media work groups on various social media platforms including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and LinkedIn. I joined several private social media work groups on Facebook and posted flyers during the recruitment period on social media. I emailed the potential participants and then followed up with a telephone call to each potential participant. The data were collected through in-depth semistructured telephonic interviews of the population who had served African American families in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. I analyzed the patterns, codes, and themes presented in the data from the participants' interviews.

Definitions

Culturally sensitive services/culturally appropriate services: Services that connect to clients of different ethnicities and divert attention from issues of power and oppression (Colvin et al., 2020).

Evidence-based services: Evidence-based service is a process in which the human services case worker combines well-researched interventions with clinical experience, ethics, client preferences, and culture to guide and inform the delivery of treatments and services (Landers et al., 2018).

Human services case workers: Human services case workers assist clients in solving and managing problems and crises that occur in their lives. In the child welfare system, human services case workers are trained to help their clients improve their developmental capabilities, problem-solving skills, and coping mechanisms, all while being responsible for the safety and well-being of the children (Perez-Jolles et al., 2019).

Assumptions

The participants of this study were current, nonlicensed human services case workers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States who had provided multiple services to their clients. In this study, I assumed that the participants were knowledgeable about providing culturally appropriate services to their clients so that they could provide me with data to answer the research question. In addition, I assumed that the participants were honest and provided me with their authentic perceptions of offering culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to their clients. Lastly, I assumed that the participants understood the questions as I intended.

Scope and Delimitations

The population of this study was delimited to human services case workers who were employed by the Department of Human Services in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. I delimited participation to human services case workers who were offering either voluntary or court-ordered services to their clients. I did not explore social workers' perceptions or the perceptions of the families who were receiving services.

Other theories were considered for the conceptual framework for this study, including critical race theory and social cognitive theory. Critical race theorists seek to understand how existing power structures and racism are entrenched in U.S. society (Dixson, 2018; Kolivoski et al., 2014). Critical race theory is a framework that researchers can use to understand, recognize, and analyze the power dynamics that sustain institutional racism and its oppressive effects in society (Dixson, 2018; Kolivoski et al., 2014). Critical race theorists analyze how racism is embedded into the foundation of U.S. life (Dixson, 2018; Kolivoski et al., 2014; Reece, 2019). The purpose of the current study was to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients and not how racism and oppression creates inequality in the child welfare system; therefore, I did not choose critical race theory as my conceptual framework.

Social cognitive theory provides a framework for understanding the relationship between social services and child maltreatment. According to social cognitive theory, changes in the client's environment through the availability of human services case workers produces increased social support for the client, which leads changes in client's behavior that may decrease child abuse and neglect of the children in the family (Negash & Maguire, 2016; Schunk & DiBenedetto, 2020). Social cognitive theory was not chosen for the current study because clients' behaviors may not change due to human services case workers being involved in the clients' lives without culturally sensitive, evidencebased services being offered to clients.

Limitations

The limitations of this study included my previous experience that may have led to potential bias while collecting and analyzing the data. Because I had been in the child welfare field for 19 years, mainly as child protection supervisor, I had preconceived ideas about how the lack of cultural awareness had a negative effect on clients. To mitigate my bias, I bracketed my biases by outlining my preconceived ideas about the topic in my research journal. According to Meyer and Willis (2019), biases in qualitative research may not be eliminated; however, the researcher's goal is to reduce biases through awareness, purpose, and practice. I reduced my bias by being aware of my assumptions and the implications for the participants; my purpose was to reduce bias by reflecting on my assumptions and my practice by using reflexive journaling (see Meyer & Willis, 2019).

An additional limitation that may have been related to the generic qualitative design of this study was that participants may not have been completely honest in their responses regarding their experiences and perceptions about this topic (see Novak et al., 2021). To mitigate this limitation, I reminded each participant of the consent form that they reviewed which included information about participants' confidentiality, the importance of the study, and scientific integrity, in an attempt to encourage participants to respond honestly regarding their experiences and perceptions about this topic.

Another limitation was the ability to establish dependability in this qualitative study (see Eldh et al., 2020). To establish dependability, I maintained a detailed audit trail (see Kozleski, 2017). Another limitation was the collecting of data through telephonic interviewing due to the COVID-19 pandemic as opposed to direct observation and face-to-face interviews that represent the bedrocks of qualitative interviewing. Face-to-face interviews may produce honest perceptions on a topic by building trust with the participants (see Krouwel et al., 2019). To mitigate this limitation, I shared information about myself to establish rapport, and used vocalizations, clarification comments, and requests to promote responsiveness and acknowledge the value of participants' responses (see Archibald et al., 2019). When a researcher builds rapport with the participants, the participants are more likely to respond with honest answers that are rich and detailed and that honestly reflect their personal experiences and perceptions (Novak et al., 2021).

Another limitation of the current qualitative study was that participants reported perceptions and experiences that could not be proven.

Significance

The results of this study may be used to address the gap in the literature by exploring nonlicensed human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services to families. The results of this study may improve the cultural awareness and communication between African American families and the human services case workers, as well as the decision makers in the welfare system. Human services case workers may improve their practice by improving their cultural awareness and communication, which may build trust and understanding that benefits both the client and the human services case worker. Human services case workers may have improved confidence and competence levels when their relationship with clients is built on trust and not power. The results of this study may lead to positive social change by increasing the cultural awareness of human services case workers. Using culturally sensitive evidence-based services to serve the needs of African American children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States may lead to increased reunification of African American children with their parents due to their involvement in the child welfare system.

Summary

The results of this study may address the gap in the literature by exploring nonlicensed human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. The population for this basic qualitative study included nonlicensed human services case workers who had developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. The findings of this study may be used to improve the cultural awareness and communication between families and the human services case workers, as well as the decision makers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system. The results of this study may also lead to positive social change by increasing the cultural awareness of human services case workers through the use culturally sensitive, evidence-based services as a tool to service the needs of African American families who are involved with the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States.

In this chapter, I outlined the need for further study concerning the perceptions of human services case worker in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system. I presented the introduction, background of the study, problem statement, purpose, research question, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance. In Chapter 2, I provide a concise synopsis of the current literature that established the relevance of the problem. I present the literature search strategy, conceptual framework, and literature review related to key concepts.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Human services case workers face the task of attempting to keep children safe in their homes and keep their families intact. In 2016, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [HHS] accepted over 2.3 million cases of child abuse and neglect for investigation in the United States (HHS, 2018). Children were the reported victims in over 677,529 reports in 2016 (HHS, 2018). In 2016, the number of children in foster care totaled over 273,539 (HHS, 2018). Human services case workers face the task of accessing culturally appropriate and evidence-based services for their African American clients and children in the child welfare system.

The current study was conducted in an Upper Midwest urban setting where the African American population represented only 4.2% of the general population; however, 28% of the children placed in foster care were African American (Breakthrough Series Collaborative, 2016). In July 2017, this Upper Midwest state population was 91% European American, 6% Hispanic American, 3.8% African American, and 1.9% of two or more races (United States Census Bureau, 2019). Of the children who were in out-ofhome settings, 13% were African American, and 11% were of two or more races (Child Welfare League of America, 2017). African American children were being removed from their parent's homes and placed in foster care at a rate that exceeded that of European American children.

There was a need for systemic changes in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States, especially to incorporate culturally sensitive, evidence-based services for families involved in the child welfare system. Human services case workers work to keep the children referred to human services safe and well (Myers et al., 2019). Human services case workers assess child safety and provide interventions, treatment plans, and services for children to remain safely in their homes and secure stable placement when placed out of their homes (Perez-Jolles et al., 2019). However, when human service workers do what is expected of them when working with their clients, their performance may nevertheless be deemed inadequate by the stakeholders, mandated reporters, and upper management of child welfare organizations (Pryce et al., 2019). Human services case workers' actions may be questioned when the safety, permanency, and well-being of children are not achieved promptly despite the barriers of high caseloads, high turnover of coworkers, and poor client participation in services that some human services case workers face (de Guzman et al., 2020; Wilke et al., 2018). Human services case workers can reduce barriers between themselves and the clients they serve by offering evidence-based services that are culturally sensitive.

Chapter 2 includes the introduction, literature search strategy, conceptual framework, evidence-based services, Safecare, Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (Secondary) Programs, reunification programs, Positive Parenting Program (Triple P), benefits of evidence-based practices. Furthermore, Chapter 2 addresses the challenges of evidence-based practices, cultural sensitivity, children who identify as LGBTQ+, teenage pregnancy, and noncustodial fathers. The chapter also includes a conclusion.

Literature Search Strategy

My search for literature on this research topic targeted scholarly articles obtained from the Walden University Library and Google Scholar. I conducted literature searches using the following databases: SocINDEX with Full Text, Social Work Abstracts, PsycARTICLES, PsycINFO, Academic Search Complete, ERIC, SAGE Journals, EBSCOhost, Counseling Database, and Thoreau Multi-Database Search. I focused on literature published between 2016 and 2022 using various keywords including *social workers, human service case workers, cultural awareness, culturally sensitive, evidencebased services, services, child welfare, bias,* and *family systems theory*. I found older references while reviewing the literature and used some seminal literature in this literature review. I identified over 1,750 scholarly articles in this search and cited over 245 scholarly articles in this study.

Conceptual Framework

I used M. Bowen's (1966) family systems theory to explore the perceptions of human services case workers working with families who are involved with the child welfare system. According to family systems theory, families are an intertwined system, and within a family there are complex subsystems that follow the same rules (M. Bowen, 1966; Minuchin, 1985). M. Bowen stated that a family function is a system; each family member plays a unique role, and family members follow specific rules. Family members are expected to interact with and respond to one another in a certain way. When patterns develop within the system, each member's behaviors impact other members in predictable ways.

Furthermore, the family is an emotional unit, and any change in the emotional functioning of one member of the emotional unit is balanced by changes in the emotional functioning of other members (M. Bowen, 1966). The actions of each member influence

the family system, and the system is constantly changing, seeking stability (M. Bowen, 1966; Minuchin, 1985; Rothbaum et al., 2002). Family members are interconnected emotionally to one another, and family systems theory provides insight into how a family functions, such as behavioral and emotional patterns that exist within the family unit.

First Tenet of Family Systems Theory

One of M. Bowen's (1966) basic tenets of the family systems theory is the nuclear family emotional system. Systems theorists describe the nuclear family emotional system as the relationship patterns that govern where problems develop in a family (M. Bowen, 1966). People's attitudes and beliefs about relationships play a role in their relationship patterns, but the forces driving them are a part of the emotional system (M. Bowen, 1966). The relationship patterns result in family tensions in certain parts of the family (M. Bowen, 1966). Another central concept of the family system theory is the undifferentiated family ego mass (M. Bowen, 1966). According to M. Bowen, undifferentiated family ego mass is the gathering of a family's emotional oneness that occurs in all degrees of intensity in a family, ranging from the highest degree of most intense to the lowest degree of being unnoticeable. Within a nuclear family, an emotional process continually shifts in the family ego mass in distinct patterns of emotional responsiveness. The level of involvement in the family ego mass of any one member of the family depends on its degree of intensity. During high stress and high intensity, the process may involve all nuclear family members, extended family members, nonfamily members, and representatives of social service agencies and the courts. The possibility of

children being unsafe or child abuse occurring in families exists during this period of emotional responsiveness.

Second Tenet of Family Systems Theory

The second tenet of M. Bowen's (1966) family systems theory I applied in this study was differentiation of self. M. Bowen (1978) stated that the primary concepts within the family systems theory focus on anxiety and integration of self. The differentiation of self is an individual's ability to maintain a strong sense of their identity when interacting with others (Knauth, 2003; Thompson et al., 2019). According to M. Bowen (1978), differentiated individuals can build healthy, helpful relationships that balance their needs for intimacy and independence, while individuals who are not well differentiated will experience personal difficulties such as conflict with others and high levels of anxiety. M. Bowen (1978) stated that child abuse is a facet of family functioning created by the insufficient emotional separation between family members and their ability to act from values and morality instead of emotional reaction.

The differentiation of self is an aspect of healthy family development. The differentiation of self has been linked to child abuse because several perceptions related to differentiation of self, including lower emotional reactivity, emotional cutoff, and enmeshment with others, predict a lower risk for child abuse (Skowron et al., 2010; Skowron & Platt, 2005). However, a lack of differentiation can also be attributed to chronic abuse when the interplay between a lack of differentiation and an ability to work through relational difficulties leads to a continual cycle of increased reactivity, which perpetuates child abuse (Stith et al., 2009; Timmer et al., 2002). The occurrence of child

abuse in families may be reduced when parents achieve higher levels of differentiation of self. Parents may be less emotionally reactive, which allows them to better regulate their emotions. By regulating their emotions, parents may think more clearly during times of stress and maintain a clear sense of self in the family system, which may allow them to remain emotionally connected to their children.

When human services case workers become involved in the family dynamic, they should assess the family's functioning. Human services case workers should be aware of clients who have trouble parenting or who have physically abused their children and may not have a strong sense of self when interacting with them (Skrowron et al., 2010; Stith et al., 2009; Timmer et al., 2002). Parents with difficulties normalizing their emotions have a lower threshold for dealing with parenting stressors. This lower threshold may result in the perpetration of physical abuse or neglect of children (Brown, 1999; Thompson et al., 2019). Human services case workers must recognize the differentiation of self of the family members not only to ascertain the barriers of the family to work with services but also to predict future child abuse or neglect.

Third Tenet of Family Systems Theory

The third tenet of M. Bowen's (1966) family systems theory I applied in the current study was triangles. According to M. Bowen (1966), triangles occur in a dyadic relationship when a third member is introduced to reduce conflict or anxiety between the other two primary unit members. The relationship between the mother and the father impacts the parent and child relationship (Korja et al., 2016). Furthermore, the mother's perceived satisfaction level in the marriage determines whether the child is a victim of

triangulation (Korja et al., 2016). M. Bowen (1966) stated that children could serve as the triangle between the parents to reduce marital strife in the family subsystem. M. Bowen (1978) also stated that the triangle is a system of relationships among three people, and when chronic anxiety is high, the triangle can become more intense. Triangles are associated with M. Bowen's concept of differentiation; when there is a higher degree of fusion in a relationship, the person with the higher level of intensity will create the triangle to preserve emotional stability (Brown, 1999; Lundahl et al., 2006). Triangles tend to occur in families when stress levels are high and families have the need to reduce conflicts and anxiety (Brown, 1996). Triangles can occur regularly within the child welfare system (Thompson et al., 2019; Thompson & Colvin, 2017). In a nuclear family, there is a triangle within the family. The triangle may change when a human services case worker becomes involved in the family. The first change may include introducing the human services case worker in the family triangle.

The role of human services case workers is to protect children from abuse and neglect and to keep them safe in their homes when families are involved with the child welfare system. Triangles occur when a human services case worker becomes involved in the family and there was previously only a symbiotic relationship between the parent and the child; the human services case worker becomes responsible for regulating the tasks of the parent and controlling the interactions between the parent and the child (Klever, 2009; Thompson et al., 2019). Triangles can lead to conflicts and problems within the family as parents who are generally responsible for the conflict or issue do not accept the responsibility, and that responsibility may be shifted to the human services case worker (Klever, 2009; Thompson et al., 2019). Human services case workers should avoid taking on the role of the responsible person or primary role in the triangle because the issues or abuse that brought the human services case worker into the household should be resolved by the parents (Klever, 2009; Thompson et al., 2019). The role of the human services case worker is to provide oversight and offer appropriate services to the family. Family systems theory addresses human behavior that considers the family as an emotional unit (M. Bowen, 1966). When human services case workers work with a family, they may need to check their emotions to avoid taking the family's behavior personally.

Barriers for Human Services Case Workers Using Family Systems Theory

Human services case workers should be prepared to face barriers when engaging with a family. One of the initial barriers to overcome is a power struggle in the family (Thompson et al., 2019). Once a human services case worker becomes involved with a family, there is usually a shift in power, with the human services case worker becoming the authoritative figure for the household (Holt & Kelly, 2016; Mackenzie et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2019). It is natural for difficulties to arise in the family system when the parents' role may be diminished by the human services case worker, who may inadvertently undermine the parent's authority (Holt & Kelly, 2016; Mackenzie et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2019). Power struggles may occur when a new person is introduced into a family, and a human services case worker should strive to recognize and understand the power struggle.

When human services case workers become closely involved, changes within the family may occur. Human services case workers' roles of keeping children safe are often

multiplied as the parents' divorce, separate, or become widowed, creating extended families or multiple households where the child lives (Fong, 2017; Kim & Drake, 2018). According to DeLongis and Zwicker (2017), 40% to 50% of parents' first marriage ends in divorce. Furthermore, 70% to 80% of people will remarry following a divorce or the death of a spouse (DeLongis & Zwicker, 2017). It is common for triangles to occur due to divorce. Triangulation occurs in the divorce process when the divorced spouses bring the children into an interpersonal struggle with the other spouse (Fong, 2017: Kim & Drake, 2018). When spouses are alienated, triangulation occurs if the spouses refuse to employ a healthy coparenting style (Petren et al., 2017). Triangles will also occur when ex-spouses attempt to undermine each other, including criticizing one another in front of the children or engaging in violent or hostile behaviors against each other (Fong, 2017). The triangulation of the ex-spouses harms the children's social functioning (M. Bowen, 1976; Fosco & Bray, 2016; Lamela et al., 2016; Petren et al., 2017). Human services case workers may need to be prepared to understand the triangulation that may occur in estranged families and offer appropriate evidence-based services to parents so that effective coparenting can occur.

Application of Family Systems Theory in the Current Study

Family systems theory provided a useful model for understanding the perceptions of human services case workers when providing culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to clients, and was an appropriate lens for understanding their roles in their involvement with the family. Family systems theory was chosen as the conceptual framework for the current study because human services case workers work within a child welfare organization in which hierarchies, structures, capacity, and functions are similar to a family structure. The human services case workers' understanding of their clients may be found in their perceptions, boundaries, and relationships with their clients (Thompson et al., 2019). The human services case workers' perceptions of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families are integral in serving and helping the family dynamic and functioning system.

Literature Review

The perceptions of human services workers in the child welfare field affect the children and their families that human service workers serve. Researchers who have studied the child welfare system have mainly focused on the children and their families rather than human service workers (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). However, human service workers' perceptions of their clients can directly affect the outcome of the services and how children will either remain safely in the house or be placed in an out-of-home setting. The perceptions of human service workers begin with their careers in the child welfare system (de Guzman et al., 2020). Human services workers' perceptions can be affected by high caseloads, poor pay, high turnover, poor supervision, lack of support, policy and procedure of their organizations, lack of advancement, uncooperative and hostile parents and families, lack of appropriate services to offer families, and working with victims of child abuse (Barbee et al., 2018; de Guzman et al., 2020; Richardson & Yates, 2019). The sections below discuss factors that affect human service professionals' ability to provide adequate services to families.

Turnover

The turnover rate of human services workers affects both their clients and fellow human services workers. The turnover rate of human services workers is high within the child welfare field (de Guzman et al., 2020; Wilke et al., 2018). According to Richardson and Yates (2019), approximately 25% of human services workers leave their jobs within 1 year, and open job vacancy rates average nearly 10% annually. Furthermore, on average, human services workers stay at their jobs for less than two years (Benton, 2017; Griffiths et al., 2017; Griffiths & Royse, 2017; He et al., 2018). The human services workers' turnover rates exceed a healthy organization's average turnover of 10% to 12% (Barbee et al., 2018). The high turnover of human services workers leads to an increased caseload burden on the remaining human services workers (de Guzman et al., 2020). The human service workers who remain on the job are faced with overwhelming caseloads and clients who are now required to deal with a new human services worker who may duplicate services for clients. The new human services workers' presence may negatively affect the clients' and human services workers' relationship and directly affect the children's safety.

Human services workers experience high caseloads due to staff turnover and insufficient salaries. Human services workers in the child welfare field are underpaid compared to other frontline professionals (de Guzman et al., 2020; He et al., 2018; Park & Pierce, 2020). Human services workers who stay on the job may experience decreased job satisfaction, which creates higher turnover rates, lower salaries, or decreased satisfaction with contingent rewards, leading to poor employee retention (Park & Pierce, 2020). Lower pay and high caseloads lead to decreased job satisfaction in the human services profession.

Lack of Advancement

Another issue that leads to decreased job satisfaction for human services workers is the lack of advancement. The availability of promotion and career development is low in the child welfare field, which makes some human services workers feel restricted, limited in advancement opportunities, and underappreciated, which leads to turnover and a shortage of trained and skilled human services workers (Curry, 2019). Additionally, the values of the human service workers and the values of their child welfare organization's policy and procedure may not be aligned in terms of promotion and compensation, leading some human services workers to feel unappreciated and undervalued (Curry, 2019; Lawrence et al., 2019). The negative perceptions of human services workers begin within their child welfare organization (Curry, 2019). Without organizational improvements to increase employee retention, human services workers' turnover rate, salary, support, recognition, values, and opportunity for advancement, some human services workers may not be able to maintain a positive perception toward their clients.

Evidence-Based Services

Human service workers employ evidence-based services better to serve each client's unique individual circumstances and issues when involved in the child welfare system. Evidenced-based services are interventions where human service case workers combine well-researched interventions with clinical experience, ethics, client preferences, and culture to guide and inform the delivery of treatments and services to an individual client's needs (Akin et al., 2016: Landers et al., 2018). The purpose of offering evidencebased is to integrate evidence into the human services workers' practice by considering the client's needs, wishes, and values while combining the human services workers' clinical expertise in the child welfare field (Myers et al., 2019). Landers et al. (2018) contended that using evidence-based programs in child welfare improves the outcomes for children and families. Evidence-based services address the clients' specific condition, coupled with the human services worker's expertise, to seek potential solutions to the condition.

Barriers to Implementing Evidence-Based Services for Child Welfare Organizations

An evidence-based service model in the child welfare field uses researched and verified methods by a human services worker to create or enhance treatment plans to help clients. Evidence-based service models have been used in the child welfare system since the 1990s; however, their success has been limited due to multiple implementation barriers from child welfare organizations (Garcia et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2020). According to Garcia et al. (2018), one of the most significant barriers to the implementation of evidence-based services is the inability of the child welfare agency's upper management to access and understand evidence about their target population. A second barrier to implementing evidence-based services is human services workers' concerns that evidence-based services diminish their relationship with clients, limit the human services worker's independence, and limit their creativity in working with clients (Akin et al., 2018). A third barrier to implementing evidence-based services is that evidence-based services tend to individualize solutions using best practices, as opposed to examining the systemic factors of the client, such as poverty (Akin et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2020). A fourth barrier to implementing evidence-based services is that evidence-based services lack transferability from one culture to another especially that of minority cultures (Garcia et al., 2018). Evidence-based services have been effective with European American families; however, there are concerns that evidence-based services may not transfer adequately to minority cultures without using culturally sensitive evidence-based services.

Barriers to Implementing Evidence-Based Services for Clients

There are perceived barriers that clients have in receiving evidence-based services. Some clients perceive that evidence-based services may benefit European American families rather than African American families (Mersky et al., 2017). Some minority families have completed evidence-based parenting programs with effective outcomes (Mersky et al., 2017; Myers et al., 2019). However, most of the research on the effectiveness of evidence-based programs with diverse or minority participants is scarce, as there are concerns that the implementation challenges would corrupt the efficacy of evidence-based programs when minority parents are the participants (Mersky et al., 2017; Myers et al., 2019). For many families, having child welfare agencies involved in their lives may cause stigmatism (Garcia et al., 2018; Mersky et al., 2017). Often the family's past experiences with the child welfare system have left them feeling that they are a highly marginalized group of individuals who have experienced bias, trauma, mistrust, stigma, and racial discrimination at the hands of the child welfare system (Garcia et al., 2018). Garcia et al. (2018) advised that relationship building between human service

workers and the family is the central point of the evidence-based intervention. In evidence-based services, when all parties are eager to engage in the intervention, positive interactions increase trust, increasing cultural relevance between the families and human service workers.

The federal legislature has recently passed laws to keep children safely in their homes using evidence-based programs. The Federal Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018 requires prevention and kinship programs to use evidence-based services, programs, and tools that meet requirements (GovTrack us, 2020; Testa & Kelly, 2020). The federal law Family First Prevention Services Act aims to keep children safely with their families when that family comes to the attention of the child welfare system. If the children need a foster care placement, that placement is in the most family-like setting, focusing on that child's individual needs (Lindell et al., 2020; Yampolskaya et al., 2020). The Family First Prevention Services Act focuses on critical elements of mental health and substance abuse prevention and treatment services and skill-based, in-home parenting programs (Lindell et al., 2020; Yampolskaya et al., 2020). The programs will be yearlong-based programs for the families, specifically for those whose children are at imminent risk of entering foster care (Lindell et al., 2020; Yampolskaya et al., 2020). Human service workers use evidence-based services to promote that children and families will receive services that have effectively demonstrated success in assisting families.

SafeCare

SafeCare is a home-based, behavioral parenting, evidence-based program designed to address child neglect and physical abuse. SafeCare addresses the three skill shortfalls within a family that are direct precursors to child neglect and physical abuse, including positive parenting skills, home safety, and child healthcare skills (Self-Brown et al., 2018; Weeger et al., 2018). SafeCare can reduce child welfare recidivism (Gallitto et al., 2018), improve parenting skills (Self-Brown et al., 2018), decrease parental depression (Gallitto et al., 2018), increase program completion (Temcheff et al., 2018), and improve service satisfaction (Oppenheim-Weller & Zeira, 2018). SafeCare is an inhome evidence-based program that does weekly visits at the clients' homes, providing services and interventions geared toward keeping children safe in their homes by offering positive parenting skills, home safety skills, and child health skills.

Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (Secondary) Programs

Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (Secondary) Programs are evidence-based services that target individuals or families at high risk for maltreatment intending to prevent abuse or neglect. These programs offer activities targeted to families with one or more risk factors, including families with substance abuse or domestic violence issues, teenage parents, parents of special needs children, single parents, and low-income families (Temcheff et al., 2018; Weeger et al., 2018). The evidence-based services for preventing child abuse and neglect (secondary) programs will include assessment, case planning, case management, education, skill building, or service delivery to address risk factors for maltreatment (Temcheff et al., 2018; Weeger et al., 2018). Human services workers' use of evidence-based services should specifically target the prevention of abuse or neglect in high-risk families.

Reunification Programs

Reunification programs are evidence-based programs designed to support the reunification of children and birth families after child welfare involvement. Almost half a million children are in foster care or out-of-home placements in the United States (Davidson et al., 2019). For 50% of these children, the case goal is reunification with their biological parents as quickly and safely as possible (Davidson et al., 2019). To assist with reunification process, child welfare provides evidence-based services to the child and the child's parents. These evidence-based services are time-limited and intended to support the reunification process (Akin et al., 2018; Myers et al., 2019). They address the causes of the child's removal and placement into foster care. Additionally, evidencebased reunification programs offer services focusing on the reason for removal and may need to be put into place during the reunification process (Olcoń, 2019). The standard evidence-based services associated with reunification include visitation between parent and child, visitation between siblings (if separated), case management services from the human services worker, parent training, anger management, substance abuse treatment, mental health treatment for the child and parent(s), and domestic violence services.

Positive Parenting Program (Triple P)

Positive Parenting Programs (Triple P) are evidence-based services. These programs provide parents with the knowledge, skills, and confidence to prevent and treat children's social, emotional, and behavioral problems (Casillas et al., 2016; Garcia et al., 2018). Triple P programs have five levels of increasing intensity and narrowing population reach for parents of children from birth to age 20 (Garcia et al., 2018). Triple P is delivered in various modalities, ranging from broad media campaigns at the lowest level of intensity to specific behavioral family interventions at the highest level (Garcia et al., 2018; Pickering & Sanders, 2016). Triple P has been established as an efficacious and effective parenting intervention, evidenced by sustained positive changes in child behavior and parent skills, satisfaction, and efficacy (Pickering & Sanders, 2016). The primary themes of most evidence-based services are geared toward keeping children safely in their homes (Haskett et al., 2018; Pickering & Sanders, 2016). In those cases where children are removed from their parents, the goal of evidence-based services is the safe reunification of the children with their parents

Benefits of Evidence-Based Practices

Human service workers have multiple benefits from employing evidence-based services in their practice.

- Evidence-based practices enhance the human services workers' expertise by combining their best clinical experiences while staying consistent with the family needs (Landers et al., 2018).
- Evidence-based service components can be modified to meet the family's unique needs (Myers et al., 2019).
- Evidence-based services improve family functioning and child wellbeing (Landers et al., 2018).

- Evidence-based services reduce repeat maltreatment and child abuse, lowering recidivism (Haskett et al., 2018).
- Evidence-based services prevent children's placement in foster care (Lewis et al., 2020).
- Evidence-based services are ethically sound and have been tested to be safe and effective for specific populations (Lohr et al., 2019).
- Evidence-based services increase the communication and collaboration between human services workers and clients (Garcia et al., 2019).
- Evidence-based services improve families' quality and variety of services (Lewis et al., 2020).

The benefits of evidence-based services used by human services workers begin with a skilled assessment of the family so that the interventions they select appropriately match the identified problems. The skilled expertise of the human services worker, matched with the appropriate services and interventions, allows the services to meet a family's unique needs (Myers et al., 2019). Evidence-based services should be modified and personalized for families based on their culture, interests, and situations (Myers et al., 2019). Effective evidence-based services increase the communication and collaboration between the human services worker and their families, improving family functioning, fostering the children's safety, and allowing children to remain in their homes or reunified with their parents much sooner (Lewis et al., 2020). Evidence-based services may reduce recidivism of new child abuse allegations against families.

Challenges of Evidence-Based Practices

There are challenges that need to be considered when human services workers or their organizations decide to employ the use of evidence-based services into their practice.

- Increased turnover of human service workers at provider agencies is due to the intensive work requirements of providing evidence-based services (Lohr et al., 2019).
- The original and ongoing training costs for evidence-based services (Julien-Chinn & Lietz, 2019).
- Human services workers appropriately refer clients to the correct and best evidence-based providers (Garcia et al., 2019).
- Evidence-based services aligned adequately with the policy and practice of the child welfare organization. A key challenge is determining the degree to which the fidelity evidence-based model by each provider agency aligns with the child welfare outcomes they achieve (Myers et al., 2019).
- There are concerns that evidence-based services are not geared toward minority populations (Richard & Lee, 2019).

The challenges of evidence-based services used by human services workers begin with the increased staff turnover and, in particular: human services workers (Lohr et al., 2019). The training in getting human services workers competent and the additional intensive workload involved in offering evidence-based services is time-consuming (Julien-Chinn & Lietz, 2019). There are concerns that evidence-based services are meant to be used by the general population and are not adequate for minority populations (Akin et al., 2016; Richard & Lee, 2019). Human services ought to be familiar with evidence-based providers to effectively refer their clients to the correct and best evidence-based provider to meet the needs of individual families.

Cultural Sensitivity

All human services workers must become culturally competent to meet the needs of their clients as their clients are becoming more diverse. Cultural sensitivity is the process by which human service workers interact respectfully and effectively with people of all cultures, languages, classes, races, ethnic backgrounds, religions, and other diversity factors in a way that will recognize, affirm and value the individual or family (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). Within cultural sensitivity, human services case workers should have a higher consciousness and knowledge base of the uniqueness of their clients' cultures and be sensitive to clients' cultures and differences among people and various groups (National Association of Social Workers, n.d.). Cultural sensitivity allows human service case workers to feel more comfortable, providing more effective interactions and relationships with their clients.

Due to the change in U.S. demographics, human service professionals in all sectors of the child welfare field ought to become culturally competent. By the year 2055, over 51% of the U.S. population will be composed of African Americans, Hispanic Americans, and Asian Americans (Colvin et al., 2020). This change in the racial profile of the United States will require human services case workers to change their social work practice to become more diverse in their ability to understand and work effectively with families of various cultures, races, and ethnic backgrounds (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). According to Colvin (2020), to work effectively with various ethnic groups and culturally diverse community members, human service workers should understand the importance of ethnicity and how it influences thoughts, behaviors, and responses to services. Bauer and Bai (2018) stated that by valuing the diversity of the clients, human services case workers could better meet the needs of their clients by delivering more appropriate and compassionate service. Cultural sensitivity, awareness, and knowledge are requirements for such understanding and are critical to a human services case worker's successful career.

A lack of culturally appropriate services may perpetuate the issues faced by minority families, especially African American families, from the child welfare system. Many African American families may face socioeconomic and sociocultural issues, including exposure to poverty, crime, racism, oppression, violence, substandard housing, dangerous neighborhood conditions, a lack of employment, substandard employment opportunities, and a lack of quality health, which are all linked to poor health and mental health outcomes (Bauer & Bai 2018; Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). When human services case workers do not engage the client with culturally appropriate services, the client may not trust the human services worker. The client may be apprehensive about the human services case workers' motives and may not self-disclose pertinent information on the family (Colvin et al., 2020). In addition, the client may incorporate passive or avoidant behaviors (Colvin et al., 2020). Cheng and Lo (2018) stated that due to a lack of cultural awareness and racial bias by the human services case workers, most African American families involved in the child welfare system do not receive appropriate services. When families involved with human services case workers do not receive culturally appropriate services, the children may remain in foster care placements longer and are not reunified with their parents in a timely manner.

The lack of culturally appropriate services is not only limited to African American families and ethnic minorities. The lack of culturally appropriate services also influences various cultures, religions, sexual orientations, and ethnic backgrounds (Mosher et al., 2017). For human services case workers to be culturally sensitive, they should be culturally competent in all phases of their practice and use an intersectionality approach to all their clients (Colvin et al., 2020; Danso, 2018; Mosher et al., 2017). An intersectionality approach to practice for human services case workers includes all forms of discrimination, oppression, and domination through the diverse elements of race and ethnicity, religious ideologies, immigration status, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, social class, and physical and mental abilities (Colvin et al., 2020; Mosher et al., 2017). For human services case workers to use an intersectionality approach with their clients, they should practice cultural humility.

Children Who Identify as LGBTQ+

LGBTQ+ children who are involved in the child welfare system may face different struggles and issues the straight children who are involved in the child welfare system. Many children who identify as LGBTQ+ have not only been ostracized by family and school but are likely to experience negative interactions with human services case workers and other child welfare professionals (Scannapieco et al., 2018). Furthermore, when LGBTQ+ children are removed from their parents and enter the foster care system. They are twice as likely to be treated poorly by their foster parents, placed in a group home, and three times more likely to be hospitalized for emotional and mental health reasons (Dettlaff et al., 2018). Human services case workers should understand that some LGBTQ+ children experience a lack of acceptance from their peers, caregivers, and foster parents. They often run away from their placements due to a lack of acceptance (McCormick et al., 2017). While in foster care, LGBTQ+ children are more likely to age out of the foster care system than their heterosexual counterparts (McCormick et al., 2017).

Furthermore, of the LGBTQ+ children who have aged out of foster care, nearly 18% of LGBTQ+ children experienced homelessness; more than 50% were unemployed, and over 30% of LGBTQ+ children reported being arrested since leaving care (McCormick et al., 2017). The rejection and ostracism felt by LGBTQ+ children are associated with experiences of their victimization at home, school, with friends, foster parents, and human services workers, which leads to social isolation, feeling defeated, and developing mental health issues and suicidal ideations (Kaasboll & Paulsen, 2019; McCormick et al., 2017; Scannapieco et al., 2018). LGBTQ+ children are overrepresented in the child welfare system, with some LGBTQ+ children experiencing discrimination, marginalization, and an overall feeling of a lack of acceptance (McCormick et al., 2017). The child welfare system may benefit from the efforts of human services case workers to be culturally sensitive to the needs of LGBTQ+ children and focus their efforts on creating safety, stability, support, and affirmation for LGBTQ+ children.

Teenage Pregnancy

Teenage pregnancy is an ongoing crisis in the United States. In 2017, a total of 194,377 babies were born to women aged 15–19 in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2019). In the United States, the teen pregnancy rate is substantially higher than in other Western industrialized nations (Combs et al., 2019). Teen pregnancy and childbearing bring substantial social and economic costs through immediate and long-term impacts on teen parents and their children (CDC, 2019). The substantial socioeconomic cost of teen pregnancy includes lower education and lower income levels of a teen's family, which may contribute to high teen birth rates (CDC, 2019).

Furthermore, teens in child welfare systems are at a higher risk of teen pregnancy and birth than other groups; additionally, teens in foster care are twice as likely to become pregnant than teens not in foster care (Combs et al., 2019). The children of teenage mothers are more likely to have lower school achievement and drop out of high school, have more health problems, be incarcerated at some time during adolescence, give birth as a teenager, and face unemployment as a young adult (Harmon-Darrow et al., 2020). Teen mothers face psychological factors, such as depression and stress, which impacts child development (Harmon-Darrow et al., 2020). Teenage pregnancy is a cultural and social issue that may result from a teen girl's interaction with her environmental influences and her relationship and communication with her family (Combs et al., 2019). Environment, poor communication, education, and social issues may contribute to teenage pregnancy.

Human services case workersmust have an understanding and compassion for teenage girls who become pregnant. Human services case workers should understand that culture is essential in exploring teenage pregnancy (Harmon-Darrow et al., 2020). Why is it prevented within different cultures, and why teenage mothers and women without children are not educated on pregnancy prevention (Combs et al., 2019; Potter & Font, 2019)? Human services case workers should be culturally aware of their perceptions of social justice when working with teen mothers because how the human services worker perceives societal issues may affect the interventions and services they will offer the teen mother (Combs et al., 2019; Potter & Font, 2019). The cultural competence and cultural awareness of the human services case worker will have a direct bearing on the relationship they have with the teen mother so that they relate to the issue, establish trust, build rapport, and comprehend the issue based on the teen mother's reality.

Noncustodial Fathers

Noncustodial fathers have rights to visitation and the right to share essential decisions in their child's upbringing. In 2018, there were 21,066,758 single-parent households in the United States, with 15,061,379 being single-mother households and 6,005,379 being single-father households (United States Census Bureau, 2018). In households with no marriage or cohabitation between biological parents, the parents are labeled single parents (Arroyo et al., 2019). These figures do not show the actual number of noncustodial fathers.

Noncustodial fathers have rights and privileges over their children, even if they do not pay any child support. For some noncustodial fathers who want to be involved in their child's lives, there may be barriers that they need to overcome. Noncustodial fathers face challenges in maintaining or contacting their children (Brewsaugh et al., 2018; Self-Brown et al., 2018; Vogt Yuan, 2016). Noncustodial fathers who have a conflict with the biological mother or financial strain, such as being unemployed, are often not allowed access to their children (Self-Brown et al., 2018). The homelessness of noncustodial fathers is a barrier to any relationship with their children due to their lack of stable housing (Brewsaugh et al., 2018). Children generally live with their mothers if the noncustodial father is homeless (Arroyo et al., 2019). A fathers' role is vital in their children's development (Kelly, 2018), and early father involvement has positive outcomes on the child's cognitive development (Brewsaugh et al., 2018). Children who have higher cognition, better interactions, and socializing skills have better involvement with their fathers, both physically and emotionally (Kelly, 2018). The child's development is enhanced when both parents work together, allowing the noncustodial fathers to have substantial involvement and interactions in the child's life.

Human services case workers could offer noncustodial fathers an opportunity to be involved in any interventions or services when children become involved with ongoing services. When noncustodial fathers, voluntarily or through court orders, participate in the case plan and fatherhood or parenting services and interventions, human services case workers should be culturally sensitive and culturally aware of their bias (Arroyo et al., 2019). Human services case workers need to be culturally sensitive about their relationship with their fathers and how the relationship could affect the interventions for noncustodial fathers (Arditti et al., 2019; Arroyo et al., 2019; Balmer et al., 2018). Human services case workers should be culturally competent and aware of the issues that could impact their relationship with the noncustodial father, including power relations, communication differences, and mutual fear (Arroyo et al., 2019; Balmer et al., 2018). Human services workers should stay culturally aware of their bias when working with noncustodial fathers.

Cultural Competence With African American Families

The societal problems of disparity and disproportionality have been an issue within the child welfare system. African American children make up 23% of the foster care population while constituting less than 14% of the children in the United States (Kids Count Data Center, 2019). Once African American children are removed from their parental homes, they will remain in foster care longer, are moved more often, receive fewer services (including mental health counseling), and are less likely to be returned home or adopted than other children (Kokaliari et al., 2019). Using culturally competent services for African American families, disparity and disproportionality may be reduced. There are differences between people due to race, ethnicity, and culture, as well as from family background and individual experience (Be'eri et al., 2019). These differences may affect the beliefs and behaviors that human services case workers and African American clients with more favorable

outcomes, enhance the potential for a more rewarding interpersonal experience and increase the satisfaction of the individual receiving services.

Factors in the Delivery of Culturally Competent Child Welfare Services

There are multiple issues that should be understood to properly deliver culturally competent services to African Americans in the child welfare system.

- Beliefs, values, traditions, and practices of a culture (Aquilani et al., 2017).
- Culturally defined needs of individuals, families, and communities (Benuto et al, 2018).
- Culturally based belief systems of the rearing of children and those related to health and healing, attitudes toward seeking help from child welfare providers (Matthews et al., 2018).

When human services case workers offer adequate services to their clients, they need to know about family functioning. Additionally, when human services case workers assess the family functioning of African American families, they should be culturally competent (Manyam et al., 2020). Human services case workers who are culturally competent could engage a culturally diverse clients' reality in a genuine, authentic, accepting, and non-offensive manner, as well as give equal value to their client's worldview (Alvarez-Hernandez & Choi, 2017). African American clients who feel their human services worker is culturally competent and care for them and their family as equals would more likely work with the human services case worker to keep the family intact and their children safe in the home.

Summary

Throughout the reviewed literature, varied factors were found to support the basis for my study. I provided a background of how culturally appropriate, evidence-based services can improve human services workers' performance and relationships when working with their clients. I reviewed the various tenets of Bowen's family systems theory, focusing on three of Bowen's basic tenets of the nuclear family emotional system, differentiation of self, and triangles (Bowen, 1966). I examined various interventions and services to enhance my understanding of evidence-based services, including SafeCare, Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (Secondary) Programs, Reunification Programs, and Triple P. I explored the benefits of evidence-based practices and the challenges of evidence-based practices. I examined various interventions and services to enhance my understanding of cultural sensitivity, including children who identify as LGBTQ+, teenage pregnancy, and noncustodial fathers. Lastly, I examined cultural competence with African American families.

In Chapter 3, I explain the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, and the methodology for this study. Furthermore, I explore the data analysis, issues of trustworthiness, and the ethical procedures that were used to complete this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

In this basic qualitative study, I aimed to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services to families. This chapter includes a detailed discussion of the methodological plan for this basic qualitative study. This chapter includes the following sections: (a) research design and rationale, (b) role of the researcher, (c) methodology, and (d) issues of trustworthiness. The chapter concludes with a summary of the key methodological issues, procedures, and concepts to conduct the study.

Research Design and Rationale

Qualitative methodology is used to understand how people experience the world. With qualitative methodology, researchers can comprehend complex social issues and problems by understanding and discovering the meanings of the human experience (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Qualitative methodology is an evolving, inductive, and naturalistic approach to studying phenomena, social situations, and people in their settings to attach meaning to their worldly experiences (Azungah, 2018). Qualitative methodology is used to understand and describe the phenomenon studied by analyzing and communicating peoples' experiences in their words through interviewing and observing the participants (Larkin et al., 2019). Qualitative methodology is more effective in understanding human experiences than quantitative or mixed methods because qualitative methodology is appropriate and occurs in a specific place and time (Dodgson, 2019). According to Fisher and Bloomfield (2019), qualitative researchers value the participants' subjectiveness and seek to investigate and understand the participants' experience of the phenomenon. I answered my research question by understanding the worldview, experiences, and perceptions of the participants who provide culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients.

The research design for this study was a basic qualitative design. In a basic qualitative design, the researcher can access and analyze the participants' perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs about their personal experiences in the real world (Nathoo et al., 2021; Percy et al., 2015). An advantage of using the basic qualitative design is that it is not guided by an overt or determined set of philosophical assumptions and is one of the more established qualitative designs (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Jahja et al., 2021). Furthermore, basic qualitative studies allow the researcher to draw on the strengths of established qualitative methodologies while providing the flexibility that makes basic approaches desirable (Kahlke, 2018). Through this basic qualitative study, I obtained more detail from the study's participants because they could share their perceptions and beliefs of their real-world experiences of being human services case workers. This basic qualitative study allowed me to complete an in-depth exploration of the participants' beliefs and reflections to collect the data needed to answer my research question (see Kahlke, 2018). Additionally, this basic qualitative study allowed me to understand the participants' perceptive and identify the recurring patterns and themes from the telephonic interviews (see Jahja et al., 2021). I chose the basic qualitative design because I wanted to provide human services case workers with the opportunity to convey their experiences of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African

50

American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families. Furthermore, this approach allowed me to collect deep, rich, in-depth information regarding how human services case workers perceive their abilities to provide culturally sensitive, evidence-based services.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to collect and analyze data, discuss findings, and provide a response to the research question. The researcher is the instrument for analysis across all phases of a qualitative research project (Nowell et al., 2017). As a qualitative researcher for this study, I conducted semistructured in-depth telephonic interviews during the data collection process. My role as the researcher included interviewing the participants to collect, analyze, and interpret the study's data. Participants' experiences were analyzed to determine the shared themes among the human services case workers.

My previous experience may have led to potential bias while collecting and analyzing the data. Because I had been in the child welfare field for almost 20 years, mainly as a child protection supervisor, I had preconceived ideas about the lack of evidence-based, culturally appropriate services when working with some clients. According to Meyer and Willis (2019), biases in qualitative research are not eliminated; however, the researcher's goal is to reduce biases through awareness, purpose, and practice. I reduced my bias by being aware of my assumptions and by using reflexive journaling.

I mitigated my biases by bracketing my preconceived ideas about the topic in my research journal. Bracketing is a technique used by researchers to omit the potentially

detrimental effects of unrecognized preconceptions related to the study (Emiliussen et al., 2021). By using bracketing, the researcher can reach more profound levels of reflection across all stages of qualitative research, including selecting a topic and population, designing the interview, collecting and interpreting data, and reporting findings (Emiliussen et al., 2021; Tufford & Newman, 2012). I used bracketing during the data collection process to limit the effects of my preconceived notions and perspectives. I identified my assumptions and opinions and how they may have influenced the data (see Emiliussen et al., 2021). Bracketing and using reflective journaling helped me set aside opinions that may have hindered data collection and analysis.

I had no personal or professional relationship with any of the participants. I was no longer employed with the study site state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States. I did not supervise any of the participants from my time employed with this state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States. There was no conflict of interest or financial incentive offered to the participants.

As the researcher for this study, I was concerned that the participants might not have answered my questions honestly due to the topic's sensitive nature. To mitigate this concern, I built rapport with the participants. To build rapport and a relationship, qualitative researchers need to identify the participants' expectations, goals, benefits, risks, and assumptions related to the study (Jenner & Myers, 2018; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Because I had worked in the child welfare system for over 20 years, I knew the roles and responsibilities of human services case workers. This commonality helped me reduce tension and improve rapport with the participants. It was crucial to communicate my role as a researcher in a way that was understood and acceptable to the participants (see Jenner & Myers, 2018). When the communication between the researcher and the participants is understood and accepted, the participants are more likely to respond with honest answers that are rich and detailed and honestly reflect their personal experiences and perceptions.

Methodology

Participation Selection

In this study, I obtained responses from a population of human services case workers working in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. This basic qualitative study sample included 12 participants until I reached data saturation. I sought to interview nonlicensed human services case workers who had developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. In qualitative research, the sample size depends on what the researcher wants to know, the purpose of the inquiry, the usefulness of the sample size, credibility, and what research can be done with the available time and resources (Vasileiou et al., 2018). The number of 12 participants was chosen as the proposed sample size for this study because the sample sizes for generic qualitative studies fluctuate and sometimes are small (see Percy et al., 2015; Vasileiou et al., 2018). Saturation is a leading tenet to determining sample size in qualitative research and is reached when there is no new information from the participants (Hennink et al., 2017; Percy et al., 2015). Having too few participants may negatively impact the quality of this study.

I purposively selected the participants for this study based on their availability to participate in the study and their willness to share their experiences of working with African American clients who are involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. Purposive sampling is a nonprobability sampling method and is a technique with which the researcher relies on their judgment when choosing members of a population to participate in the study (Ames et al., 2019). Purposive sampling is practical when a smaller sample size can serve as a primary data source due to the nature of the research design and the objectives of the study (Serra et al., 2018). I selected participants who could provide information and insight on the topic I researched due to their experience with the phenomenon being investigated. The sample population for this basic qualitative study was 12 nonlicensed human services case workers who had developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. I recruited participants who had met the criteria because this group had knowledge and experience with the phenomenon. The participants I chose were a representative sample who fit the study's needs and met the study's characteristics.

I used snowball sampling as a secondary sampling strategy to obtain participants when I could not obtain enough participants through purposeful sampling. Snowball sampling is a method commonly used when investigating hard-to-reach groups, and it consists of identifying primary participants and relying on them for referrals for other prospective participants who meet the selection criteria. Snowball sampling can also provide data and information on the topic (Sykes et al., 2018). After receiving information about other potential participants from the current participants, I contacted the potential participants by email, describing the nature of the study and including the benefits to the human services case workers and their clients. I also provided potential participants with an invitation to participate in the study. I followed up on the invitation with a phone call to the prospective participants.

An adequate sample size is connected to the concept of data saturation. Qualitative research has no published guidelines for establishing the exact sample size to reach saturation (Constantinou et al., 2017; Vasileiou et al., 2018). Data saturation is accomplished when bringing in new participants would be redundant and no new data are being received (Constantinou et al., 2017; Hennink et al., 2017; Vasileiou et al., 2018). I began this study with 10 participants and then interviewed 2 additional participants until data saturation was reached. I checked that no new themes or information was being obtained through data collection. I knew when data saturation was reached by interviewing participants until I did not obtain any new information or ideas from the participants. Once it was determined that data saturation was reached, I did one more interview to verify that data saturation had been attained.

Procedures

I recruited human services case workers participants by using social media workgroups on various social media platforms including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and LinkedIn. The human services case workers for this study were recruited via posted recruitment flyers on Facebook, LinkedIn, and human services case workers social work groups on various social media platforms. I joined several private human services case workers social media work groups on Facebook and posted flyers during the recruitment period on social media. I sent potential participants an email describing the nature of the study, including the benefits to the human services case workers' profession and to their clients. I followed up the email with a phone call to the prospective participants. The population for this study was nonlicensed human services case workers who had developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. I conducted in-depth telephonic interviews. The telephonic interviews were audio recorded, and I took written notes on the participants' answers to the questions. I informed the participants that the initial interviews would take 45 to 60 minutes.

Instrumentation

My role as the researcher was as an instrument. I used an interview protocol to explore the participants' perceptions of offering culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to their clients (see Appendix A). The interview protocol included a three-phase process of ensuring that the interview questions would align with research questions, creating open-ended and inquiry-based questions, and receiving and implementing the feedback from the expert panel reviewers on the interview protocols (see Assarroudi et al., 2018; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). One of the goals of qualitative research is to discover as much as possible about the participants and their experiences on the research topic by asking the participants open-ended questions on the topic (Assarroudi et al., 2018; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). The interviews were conducted via semistructured interviews by telephone. The participants were offered their choice of telephonic or Zoom interviews. All of the participants chose telephonic interviews. Semistructured interviews combine the flexibility of the unstructured, open-ended interview with the directionality and agenda of a structured interview (Roulston, 2018). I used a demographic sheet for each participant in which I gathered background information on each participant while building rapport and the answers to the interview questions. The telephonic interviews were digitally audio-recorded with the participants' consent, and complete transcriptions (verbatim) were created after the interviews were conducted.

Expert Panel Review

I conducted the expert panel review to promote the validity of the interview protocol. The expert panel review consists of specialists determined to be experts based on their professional attributes such as occupation, experience, and education (see Burden et al., 2020). The expert panel review occurred prior to beginning the data collection. By conducting the expert panel review, I developed interview questions after the panelists reviewed the original interview protocol and suggested revisions and improvements to the questions.

The expert panel review consisted of three members who promoted the content and method of the interview questions. Because my research focused on the perceptions of human services case workers, I believed it was best to seek the expertise of specialized individuals who had working knowledge of the population under study. Two of the expert panel review members were human services supervisors. Both human services supervisors were experienced in working with and supervising human services case workers in this state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States. Both supervisors had expertise in discussing cases and interactions between human services case workers and their clients.

Furthermore, both supervisors had expertise in designing interview questions for new employee applicants and evaluating the applicant's responses. The third expert panel review member had her doctorate and is a professor in the Communications Studies Department at a major university in the Eastern United States. Her research interests are in the intersection of family, culture, health humanities, and health communication. She regularly publishes on topics such as children's health, mental health, end-of-life communication, family disability, and qualitative research methods.

I used the knowledge of the expert panel review to evaluate the extent in which the interview questions would solicit rich and full responses from the participants. The expert panel members provided written feedback on the clarity of the vocabulary and language incorporated in the interview questions in the interview protocol. Statements and questions were modified and revised so that the participants' responses would not predispose them to answer in ways that are politically correct or do not shed light on only positive perceptions. Furthermore, the expert panel review assisted me in ensuring the construction and content of the interview questions aligned with the research design and study's intention.

Data Analysis Plan

The data for this basic qualitative study were systematically organized and analyzed. I used an automated transcription service to transcribe the interview data. I used both a verbatim transcription and a summary transcription for all the interviews. I

verified the accuracy of the entire transcripts by listening to the recording and reading through the transcripts multiple times. I coded the interview data, notes, and my reflective journal data using a line-by-line method as suggested by Saldana (2016). Saldana divided coding methods into two main stages: the first and second cycle. First cycle coding is the initial exploration of the participants' concepts, phrases, or statements repeatedly (Saldana, 2016). First cycle codes are divided under seven different subcategories: grammatical methods, elemental methods, effective methods, literary and language methods, exploratory methods, procedural methods, and themeing the data (Saldana, 2016). The subcategories are then divided into multiple characteristics. It is up to the researcher to decide which of these seven subcategories or combinations of subcategories and their characteristics are appropriate to use in their study. According to Saldana, the researchers' decision on which subcategories and characteristics are to be used depends on several factors, including the researchers' experience level, research question, type of interviews, data collecting procedures, and the nature and goals of the study. In this study, I used the elemental methods subcategory with the following characterizations: in vivo coding, values coding, and process coding. In vivo coding uses actual phrases from the participant, and it is helpful for novice qualitative researchers learning how to code data and focus on and respect the participant's perceptions (Saldana, 2016). Values coding explores the participants' cultural values and belief practices, identity, and the participants' intrapersonal and interpersonal experiences and actions (Saldana, 2016). Process coding effectively examines changes that occur when persons act or interact to reach a goal or solve a problem. Processes are rooted in psychological perceptions such

as prejudice, identity, and trust (Saldana, 2016). Additionally, process coding happens concurrently with second stage coding methods of focused coding and axial coding.

I used second cycle coding to create a categorical, thematic, conceptual, and theoretical organization from the collection of first cycle codes. Second cycle coding allowed me to manage a large amount of data in a manner that enabled a focus on the rational map of the phenomenon I studied (see Saldana, 2016). Pattern codes often summarize data in four interrelated ways: categories and themes, causes and explanations, relationships among people, and theoretical constructs (Saldana, 2016). These pattern codes led me to a more in-depth analysis of the interview results. Qualitative researchers need to have a systematic approach to interpreting the transcripts to represent the subjective thoughts and feelings of the participants, as well as immerse themselves in the transcripts to understand the determining codes, categories, themes, and subthemes in the data (Saldana, 2016). I categorized data to identify themes and discrepant data, which informed the critical findings of this study (see Saldana, 2016). The findings were collected from the data analyzed concerning the research questions and interpreted regarding the conceptual framework and literature review. The collected data were analyzed to develop meaning. I did not use systematic software to analyze data due to the number of participants in the study.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness in qualitative research refers to the accuracy of a research study, data, and findings. Confidence in the truth of a qualitative study is based on the study's trustworthiness (Spiers et al., 2018). To promote trustworthiness for this study, I used

60

appropriate strategies to establish credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability to support the strength of this generic qualitative study.

Credibility

I promoted that my findings are credible. The creditability of a qualitative study is based on the researcher's truthful interpretation and representation of the data received from the participants in the study (Eldh et al., 2020). To promote credibility, I triangulated the data using various sources of my data collection; including telephonic interviews and reflective journaling, to check the accuracy and credibility of the data (see Eldh et al., 2020). Triangulation ensures credibility by using multiple approaches, such as audio and visual observations, analyzing written data, and having the participants validate their information for accuracy.

Transferability

The transferability of this study was limited. According to Roman et al. (2020), while credibility parallels internal validity, transferability parallels the study's external validity. Transferability is met in a qualitative study when the same set of conditions applies to a different population of participants with the same background as the original study participants (Roman et al., 2020). To promote the transferability of this study, I used purposive sampling, which consisted of human services case workers who developed case plans and provided services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. I accomplished this by succinctly describing the population being explored, participant selection, and geographic boundaries of the study (see Cypress, 2017). Transferability may be achieved when the study findings can be helpful to other groups (Cope, 2014). To provide transferability and allow the findings to be used in other fields and studies, I provided a clear description of the sampling techniques, inclusion criteria, and participants' main characteristics. My study may be transferable because other human services case workers and child welfare agencies may benefit from the findings.

Dependability

Dependability may be met in this study by following the methodology of the generic study research design and the data collection details. Dependability parallels the reliability of the study and focuses on the processes of the study to demonstrate that the process is logical and documented (Eldh et al., 2020). I used memoing to develop an audit trail throughout the study (see Kozleski, 2017). The audit trail is essential in qualitative studies to establish dependability (Kozleski, 2017). In order to develop a detailed audit trail, I maintained a log of all research activities, memos, research journals, and data collection and analysis procedures throughout this study (Kozleski, 2017). By using an audit trial, I developed more in-depth research notes in the form of journals and memos, as well as explained my research decisions, activities, reflective attitude, and transparency in my study.

Confirmability

Confirmability was met in this study as my role as the researcher was documented. The confirmability of the data is necessary for the researcher to minimize their bias, maximize accuracy of the researcher, and promote that the researcher be impartial throughout the study (Kozleski, 2017. Confirmability indicates the extent to which the study results are objective and free of researcher bias (Eldh et al., 2020). To promote confirmability, I kept a reflective journal to keep my thoughts separate from those of the participants, as well as detailed notes to capture any of my personal views or biases during the interview process see (see Spiers et al., 2018). I made sure that the findings of my study were based on the information that was collected during the interviews.

Ethical Procedures

The participants in this study have rights and should be treated fairly. The participants of my proposed study were protected under the process held by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Walden University. The purpose of an IRB is to protect human subjects from illegal and unethical treatment during the study and establish ethical standards for conducting research with human subjects (Tauri, 2017). I submitted a completed IRB form to comply with the ethical procedures. The IRB approved my application for this study. My IRB approval # is 04-12-22-0664628. I abided by the various ethical considerations to safeguard participants' dignity, rights, and wellbeing throughout this study. Ethical procedures were used to secure participants' consent and safeguard participants' rights, including voluntary participation, informed consent, confidentiality, and privacy (Tauri, 2017). The potential participants were given enough information to make an informed decision to participate in the study. Informed consent consists of rights, voluntary participation, the purpose of the study, confidentiality, and privacy (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). All participants submitted the consent form to me before the telephonic interviews. Once I received the informed consent form back from

the participants, I signed and emailed a copy to the participants. All of the participants were informed that they were allowed to withdraw early from the study before they agreed to participate in the study and that the consent form addressing early withdrawal explained that the participant would not be treated differently for choosing to withdraw at any point (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I was solely responsible for collecting all data during the research.

The data attained during the research were kept private and confidential. The participants' responses were kept confidential. The telephonic interviews were conducted in private. The audio recordings, transcripts, and notes were secured in a locked filing cabinet in a private location in my home. I used codes on the documents to gather data from participants rather than participants' names to identify information. I kept a document that will link the codes to participants' identifying information locked in a separate secured location in my home. The computer used to document the data analysis is locked and secured with a password. The data will also remain confidential, and after the entire research process was completed; the data will be kept for a minimum period of 5 years, depending on the current standard of Walden University Research Protocol.

Summary

Chapter 3 addressed the methodology used in this study. A description of the research design and rationale was presented in this chapter. A description of researcher's role, methodology, population, instrumentation, procedures, expert panel review, data collection, data analysis plan, issues of trustworthiness, credibility, transferability, dependability, conformability, and ethical procedures were included. This study aimed to

explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients. A basic generic qualitative approach was used to conduct this study. I conducted the research and was responsible for obtaining all data for the study.

Chapter 4 provides the results of the study. It includes the setting, demographics, data collection and data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families. I aimed to provide information on the benefits of using culturally sensitive, evidence-based services and referrals. African American families may be better served, and child safety and well-being could be improved in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. As a result of this study, human services case workers' use of culturally sensitive, evidence-based services may affect whether services offered to African American and racial minority families may be improved. This study was guided by one research question: What are nonlicensed human service case workers' perceptions of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families? The contents of this chapter include the settings for the study, demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, results of the study, and a summary of the chapter.

Setting

I began the data collection process after receiving IRB approval to conduct the study. This study took place during the unusual circumstances of the COVID-19 global pandemic. Initially, the study was to include face-to-face in-person interviews; however, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the participants were given the choice of participating via telephonic or Zoom interviews. All of the participants chose to complete the

interviews telephonically. The participant determined the date and time of the interview. The use of telephonic interviews did not negatively affect the quality of the data collected, and data collection had been improved by the rich and detailed nature of a telephone conversation.

Demographics

The participants in this basic qualitative study were nonlicensed human services case workers who had developed case plans and offered services to African American families involved in the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States. All of the participants were over 21 years old. The demographic information of gender, age, and race was not requested or necessary for this study based on the content of the research question. The chosen participants constituted a representative sample who fit the needs of the study.

Data Collection

I collected data from 12 participants for this basic qualitative study. I collected data through semistructured telephone interviews due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The participants were offered either Zoom or telephonic semistructured interviews due to COVID-19. All of the participants chose telephonic semistructured interviews. The semistructured interviews were conducted during a 7-week period. The interviews were scheduled for approximately 45 to 60 minutes for each participant; however, all of the interviews were completed between 41 and 57 minutes.

All of the participants' interviews were recorded after each participant gave their permission for me to record the interview. I recorded all of the interviews on my iPhone using the TapeACall app. After the semistructured interviews were recorded, I used TapeACall to transcribe all of the audio-recorded interviews. Last, I reviewed each transcribed interview line by line to correct any minor mistakes made during the transcription, and I also compared the responses to my reflective journaling notes. I did not encounter any abnormal circumstances or variations during the data collection process from the plan presented in Chapter 3.

Data Analysis

The data for this basic qualitative study were systematically organized and analyzed. I coded the interview data, notes, and reflective journal data using a line-byline method, as suggested by Saldana (2016). I divided the coding methods into two main stages: first cycle and second cycle. The first cycle coding was the initial exploration of concepts, phrases, or statements that were repeatedly used by the participants (see Saldana, 2016). I used second cycle coding to create categories and themes from the collection of the first cycle codes. I began the detailed data analysis using the coding process by organizing the data into sentence segments and then into categories and labeling the categories with terms those participants used. I then used the coding process and categories to develop a description of the participants, which represented the themes' descriptions. I interpreted the meaning of the data by focusing on and making sense of the participants' perspectives of their experiences as human services case workers, paying attention to their exact language and the conclusions drawn by each of the 12 participants. The data analysis moved inductively from the coded units in the interviews to labeled categories and then into themes.

Several hundred first cycle codes were developed and repeated by the participants. I characterized my first cycle coding using in vivo, values, and process coding. By using in vivo coding, the researcher prioritizes and honors the participant's voice (Saldana, 2016). Value coding includes the cultural values and belief systems, identity, and intrapersonal and interpersonal aspects of the participants' experiences (Saldana, 2016). Process coding is rooted in psychological perceptions such as prejudice, identity, and trust (Saldana, 2016). The nine most common and repeated codes in the current study were culture, being culturally competent, bias, having perspective, racism, trust, open-mindedness, education, and diversity.

I conducted process coding concurrently with second stage coding, which led to the development of categories and themes. The process coding was influential in developing the categories used for this study. I reviewed all of the codes, and then I grouped the codes into categories. The categorization process involved grouping the first cycle codes that were similar under the same more extensive codes known as categories. Using categories, I reduced the preliminary first cycle codes under a specific topic. The categories that emerged from the initial coding were cultural awareness and sensitivity, evidence-based services, training of human services case workers, diversity of clients, lack of trust, cultural bias of human services case workers, lack of diversity in the workforce, different perspectives and viewpoints, lack of culturally competency, race, ethnicity, gender, sexual identity, and religious beliefs.

Analyzing and sorting the first cycle and second cycle codes into categories enabled me to detect overarching themes from the data. The categorization of codes reflected the themes. The theme can result from coding, categorization, or analytic reflection (Saldana, 2016). I included the themes that emerged during data analysis from the telephonic interviews that represented the findings from the 12 participants' responses. The themes that emerged were importance of cultural competency, effective evidence-based services, human services case workers' biases, lack of diversity in human services case workers, cultural upbringing and environment, Families First Act and African American clients, cultural awareness and sensitivity training, lack of trust of the human services case workers, rural versus urban areas and population, and trust and rapport building.

No discrepant cases were factored into the data analysis; however, one participant's responses to the training question deviated from the norm. This outlier had only positive responses regarding the training offered by the state. I do not know why this participant responded differently than the other participants. This participant did not vary from the norm in responding to any of the other interview questions.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

I ensured the credibility of this study by using triangulation, audio recording, transcription of the semistructured telephonic interviews, and reflective journaling to gain a truthful interpretation of the data received from the participants. I obtained Walden University IRB approval prior to collecting any data. I used direct quotes from the participants during the data collection process to develop themes and improve the credibility of this study. All participants were allowed to review their responses for accuracy and truthfulness.

Transferability

I promoted transferability for this study by providing other researchers with evidence that this study's findings could apply to other perspectives, conditions, and populations. According to Cope (2014), transferability is accomplished when the study's findings can be applied to other research, groups, or settings. The transferability of the current study will allow the findings to be applied to other human services case workers' studies. The transferability of this study was further accomplished by the thick and rich descriptions that were part of the detailed accounts and the experiences and perceptions of the participants.

Dependability

I ensured dependability of this study by outlining the details of the data collection. I detailed the steps taken in this research process, including a description of the coding process, how the data were analyzed, and the steps taken to recruit participants so that the findings could be repeated with comparable participants in comparable conditions. The semistructured interview approach allowed the participants to take the lead in the interview data collection process when topics that were important to them were discussed, increasing dependability. Other researchers could replicate this study in comparable conditions and obtain the same results.

Confirmability

I promoted confirmability in this study through a reflective journal to keep my thoughts separate from those of the participants, and I took detailed notes to capture my personal views or biases during the interview process. According to Patton (2002), the study needs to be free of prejudice and bias for confirmability to be accomplished. Through the reflective journaling process, I reflected on my biases and values to ensure transparency and that the study was completed honestly and truthfully. After each semistructured telephonic interview, I reviewed the transcript and listened to the semistructed telephonic interview a second time to ensure that the process that was conducted for all interviews was consistent and free of my bias. I made sure that the findings of my study were based on the data provided by the participants that were collected during the semistructured telephonic interviews.

Results

In this basic qualitative study, I explored one research question to understand human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidencebased services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families: What are nonlicensed human services case workers' perceptions of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families? The participants were 12 human services case workers from an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States, all of whom were interviewed through individual semistructured telephonic interviews. Each participant was assigned a pseudonym for the interview audio recordings, the interview transcripts, and the results. The results were based on the semistructured telephonic interviews of the 12 participants. Based on the interview responses from the 12 human services case workers, the following 10 themes emerged: the importance of cultural competency, effective evidence-based services, human services case workers' biases, lack of diversity in human services case workers, cultural upbringing and environment, Families First Act and African American clients, cultural awareness and sensitivity training, lack of trust of the human services case workers, rural versus urban areas and population, and trust and rapport building.

Theme 1: Importance of Cultural Competency

Cultural competency was mentioned by all of the participants as an essential part of performing the work of human services case workers. Participant 1 stated "cultural competency means to me is being aware that other cultures might function different than that of your own." Participant 1 also stated

there is lots of different cultures out there that we need to be aware of and we need to be educating ourselves in as we as we come across with different cultures that we might not be familiar with our might not have a lot of information or education on.

Furthermore, Participant 1 stated

when we do kind of approach another culture, it can be a little bit of a shock and they're like, oh boy, how do we, how do we approach this family? Because some, some family dynamics and some cultures, view family, and roles, and safety in a different way than what our middle class, Caucasian people do.

Participant 2 stated

I think number one is to understanding that there are different cultures, Number two understanding, how my upbringing, how my perspective, how my views on life, how my culture, perhaps, may impact my ability to fully understand someone else's culture, and how that impacts their family. And then, I think number three to try to be educated and as cognizant as possible and working with families and individuals within families about their culture and how, you know, my work may either one impact that or number two how their culture may impact, you know, the work that I'm doing with them or should impact the work that I'm doing with that individual or family.

Participant 2 also stated "I think sometimes gets confused with my impression with race and so that is a part of culture. But you know, I could have, somebody who has pretty similar ethnic backgrounds to families that might have markedly different cultures."

Participant 3 stated "to me means doing your due diligence to understand and empathize with every person you work with regardless of their background, ethics really it's just being ethical and treating everybody with the same mutual respect." Participant 3 also stated

I think it is my understanding that there is a difference in people and culture, and doing my best to be respectful of the differences in people. It is important to honor the differences in people and to allow and accept another's beliefs, race, sexual identity, and culture.

Furthermore, Participant 3 stated

I feel like a lot of a lot of times we tend to whitewash things and ignore other cultures and really kind of make a lot of assumptions. I feel like we take our white culture, for lack of better wording, and I think we almost like put that out on, you know, like project it onto other cultures to just to make it easier on ourselves.

Participant 4 stated "you have an understanding of the different cultures in your community, and you have a respect for those folks." Participant 4 also stated "you do not prejudge any specific age group of people because of their differences or things." Furthermore, Participant 4 stated "being able to respect people and taking time to listen to them and learn about them so that you do feel a little more competent in working with different types of people in the area."

Participant 5 stated

I think that it is trying to understand where a person comes from, what their background, whether that, you know, race or religion, or ethnicity, sure, how that plays a part in their life and everybody is different and having that understanding that everybody's life experiences are different.

Participant 6 stated, "I do try to find out a little bit about where they come from, what their practices and traditions are." Participant 7 stated, "To me cultural competency is like across-the-board, anything that can vary from one person to the next." Participant 8 stated,

it means understanding the differences in you know, the different types of or the different communities of people and different diversity as in, you know, where you're from your ethnic background and really so that we can better understand it. So we can meet families where they are able to provide them with the best resources and or services or assistance.

Participant 9 stated, "I think it's just understanding, different cultural attitudes." Participant 9 also stated, "Having a good understanding of different, you know, behaviors in cultures or different ways that they do things." Participant 10 stated, "Is the ability to understand that everyone's backgrounds are different and in to take that into consideration when working directly with families, parents, children, um, everyone's histories are different." Participant 10 also stated, "So gaining an understanding of how they view things, why they view things, the way that they do, what their experiences have been, um, how they perceive things, understanding that not everyone sees things the same way." Participant 11 stated, "I would say trying to learn more about other cultures and what is important to them like as far as like their traditions and family values and practices and I'm trying to take consideration of that." Participant 12 stated,

cultural competency to me means that you are trying to be aware and understand things that are different than you, whether it has to do with race, religion, other societal type belief and that you do, your best, to be competent, to understand those things that are different than you. So that way you are not offensive or disrespectful to other people. This theme of the importance of cultural competency aligns with the research question as the perceptions of the human services case workers are vital in understanding the clients' cultural needs and beliefs. For services to have a positive impact on the clients, they need to be effective and helpful.

Theme 2: Effective Evidence-Based Services

Human service case workers employ evidence-based services to serve better and improve each client's unique circumstances, problems, and issues. Participant 4 stated, so with the evidence based practice curriculum that we're using now, we still do some parenting curriculum, that is evidence-based and it's used for everyone across the board. So you know, that's there is no difference actually as far as how it's working for clients. I don't think it's making any more of a difference culturally, but evidence-based services do work and makes a difference, as well as benefits and helps clients.

Participant 7 stated, "So evidence-based services, I think is just important no matter what; One because you're proving that that system worked and two because once you start using it, you have dated it back it." Participant 10 stated,

we can't do the same thing for each family, it does become challenging when you're in areas where services and resources aren't as abundant as they are in larger areas, but you know our evidence-based practice curriculums that we use are pretty universal. But at the same time I feel there's some flexibility within some of the practices that we have that allow us to, respect those cultural differences and still get the family to where they need to be, and not, diverge too far off of what the programming is that we have available to us.

Participant 12 stated,

it's focusing on what the family needs and helping them identify make the plan for themselves. So in that way I could get good, it is good for any individual because you're really focusing on what they feel they need to be successful.

This theme of the evidence-based services aligns with the research question as the purpose of offering evidence-based services. The purpose of offering evidence-based services is to integrate evidence in the human services workers' practice by considering the clients' needs, wishes, and values while combining the human services workers' clinical expertise in the child welfare field (Myers et al., 2019). The use of evidence-based programs by human services case workers improves the outcomes for children and families. Evidence-based services address the clients' specific needs, together with the human services worker's knowledge, to seek prospective solutions to better serve minority clients.

Theme 3: Human Services Case Workers' Biases

The cultural bias of any human services case worker may have toward their clients may increase the clients' feelings of being marginalized and discriminated against by their human services case worker. Participant 3 stated, "I have my own biases and I'm aware of my own thoughts, we, everybody, has their own prejudices and what not." Participant 3 also stated, I think that we tend to offer more services to white people then we do to black people. I think we tend to be quicker to look at other family members and things like that, who are potential helpers on cases, with White people. Then we do Black people seem to be honest. I think we're quicker to bring extra supports when we're meeting with a Black family, especially depending on what neighborhood they live. In fact, I think we're quicker to pull in the police and things like that. When we go to certain neighborhoods, then we do with poor white neighborhoods. So, you know that kind of thing I think is just kind of as well; a knee jerk reaction.

Participant 3 also stated,

I remember that this biased DHS worker refused to have an interpreter available for this for this mother and it was infuriating because we're all sitting there, hearing people having this meeting, and this poor mother, is missing at least 90% off of what was being said. And it's a meeting about her and her children, and her children's safety, and how she supposed to get her children back, and what she supposed to do, and this DHS worker just wouldn't have it and she wasn't going to spend the money that was needed to hire an interpreter, violation of this woman civil rights, it was the case where it was just infuriating and just learning about that, being a part of that meeting really urged me to be more aware of where people are, and where they're coming from because we're not, we're not the same, you just can't throw a blanket on everybody. Participant 4 stated, "At the end of the day, ultimately, people do hold their own personal biases, whether they are recognized or not recognized." Participant 4 also stated, "Just really trying to encourage people to learn to become more knowledgeable and also, you know, encourage others to not be afraid to hold their peers accountable." Furthermore, Participant 4 also stated, "If you catch other case workers in a situations where they are not being sensitive to cultural differences, it is vital to let their supervisors know." Participant 5 stated, "They have coworkers who go into minority clients home with an attitude and there is no connection what so ever with the family." Participant 6 stated, "Due to some workers bias they don't necessarily participate family team meetings or in a situations where you are talking about sensitive topics like race or racism and disparities and things like that bias." Participant 12 stated, "Bias and institutional racism are uncomfortable to talk about anyway." Participant 12 also stated,

I think that the biggest downfall is, so when workers don't treat clients with an open mind or going in thinking that they can learn something about themselves or about just the topic in general, then it's kind of like falls on deaf ears.

Participant 12 further stated, "Case workers must keep their own biases in check and to be mindful and respectful of what those differences are."

This theme of the human services case workers' bias aligns with the research question as bias contributes to a lack of cultural competence and creates cultural misunderstanding among human services case workers which contributes to human services case workers not offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to minority families.

Theme 4: Lack of Diversity in Human Services Case Workers

The lack of diversity of human services case workers within the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. may increase the clients' feelings of being marginalized and misunderstood. Participant 1 stated,

I think when they, when different cultures should see the department as a whole in our area. They're seeing a bunch of middle class, white people that don't know anything about their life and about how their culture, you know, anything about them or anything about how they see their own family, and I think sometimes we go into it. They already know that we don't know how their culture operates because we are, as a whole; it's just a big clump of a Midwestern White people.

Participant 3 stated,

I think that we're starting to see more African American workers. Not necessarily DHS workers, but I'm hoping like in our area. Like at the Youth Shelter. I've seen more African American workers; they're like employees and I think that that makes a big difference in even the youth and how they are responding to like it. I think it's just one of those things that are going to take time. To keep building, you know, it might not happen in the next 5 years or whatever, but I'm really hopeful that that should start seeing more DHS workers that are African American. I know a handful of people that I can think of right off the top of my head that have the degree to do the job and would be really good at it. But for whatever reason they're not applying or if they are applying, they're not being chosen and that sucks. So, I don't know. I think it's just going to take time.

Participant 4 stated,

I think it is that level of distrust is more prevalent among African-American children then maybe in the Caucasian children. And we're different, when we come in, because we're not black, so they feel that level of distrust is there. I think it would make a difference if we had some black DHS workers.

Participant 4 also stated, "The trust level by having a Black case worker definitely would be there more from the get-go than it would be with a Caucasian worker going in for sure."

Participant 5 stated, "We should be representative of our population and I don't see enough of that. I don't see enough of women or minorities in leadership positions." Participant 10 stated,

we do not have minorities that are employed by the agencies just because we're in the Midwest and it's less likely to have that that type of a staff differential, I think sometimes it's hard for some families who come from the minority groups to be open and accepting and trustworthy of child welfare worker, in our areas, just because they feel that they're already not understood or they feel they're already going to be judged without being given an opportunity to really have someone understand who they are, and where they come from trust and to try to be open and honest and share that information and sometimes that's difficult for families.

Participant 10 also stated,

that first, it takes some time to build that trust before they're willing to open up and share, you know, how things are in their world, I think specifically AfricanAmerican case workers would be beneficial, family feel a little more connected or understood. Staff member then that they don't feel judged or prejudged or that they're immediately misunderstood and this just isn't going to work, we do have a few staff members that are bilingual, as far as Spanish-speaking, and or our Spanish-speaking, and they typically work well, with these Spanish speaking families, but there's an understanding of that culture and how families work together and what's acceptable and what's not. And they seem to work very well with those minority families in the Hispanic community because I feel that there's already kind of a gained trust or understanding that the person, isn't coming from the outside looking in and not understanding of.

This theme of the lack of diversity of human services case workers aligns with the research question as one of the focuses of this study is to explore how to enhance and improve services offered to African American and other minority clients.

Theme 5: Cultural Upbringing and Environment

The cultural upbringing and environment of human services case workers within the child welfare system in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. has played a significant role in the perceptions and attitudes of human services case workers. Participant 1 stated,

it can be a little bit of a shock and they're like, oh boy, how do we approach this family, some family dynamics and some cultures, view family, and roles, and safety in a different way than what our middle class Caucasian people do.

Participant 1 also stated, "When you're not truly exposed to it and reality very often, it's hard to put into practice." Participant 1 further stated,

If we take a bunch of middle class, white people and put them in a room to figure out how to be more culturally diverse. We're not going to get very far. So right, I think really pulling together. It's probably kind of difficult to find here in this state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States to get participants.

Participant 2 stated,

understanding that there are different cultures, understanding, how my upbringing, how my perspective, how my views on life, how my culture, may impact my ability to fully understand someone else's culture, and how that impacts their family, educated, cognizant as possible, working with families and individuals within families about their culture, impact, understanding, how my upbringing, how my perspective, how my views on life, how my culture, perhaps, may impact my ability to fully understand someone else's culture, and how that impacts their family.

Participant 3 stated, "I feel like we take our white culture, for lack of better wording, and I think we almost like put that out on, you know, like project it onto other cultures to just to make it easier on ourselves." Participant 4 stated,

I understand it may be different from some other folks. I'm bi-racial myself; my mother and my mother's family came to Fort Dodge from Mexico. So I grew up in an environment that included another culture. One side of my family being Mexican and so being exposed to that and growing up trying to understand, the differences between like my Mexican side of the family versus my white side of the family. I saw things a little differently than maybe some people.

Participant 5 stated,

I remember that my values and my upbringing are not necessarily the norm and that I need to meet people where they're at and be aware that my beliefs or I don't want to say my goals but my beliefs. My life is different than other people and that's okay, they are the experts in their own lives. We don't always have the same values.

Participant 5 also stated, "Our upbringing and our values and our childhood in our beliefs and goals while we want to like different, people are different and there is not a universal life plan for everyone." Participant 5 further stated,

am I speaking from implicit bias, or am I speaking from the evidence that's presented to me? I will talk to somebody else and make sure my perception is coming from a place of facts and evidence versus what my personal beliefs maybe my perspective is coming from evidence and facts, not internal feeling I might have.

Participant 7 stated,

sometimes I think my perception is a little bit skewed because sometimes I get that you're just a White girl knocking at my door, trying to tell me what to do. And to break through that barrier gets a little bit difficult.

This theme of the cultural upbringing and environment of human services case workers aligns with the research question as one of the focuses of this study is to explore the perceptions how human services case workers perceive their clients and their upbringing and environment may affect their perceptions.

Theme 6: Families First Act and African American Clients

The original aim of the Families First Act was to keep children safely with their families when that family came to the attention of the child welfare system. Human services workers should begin by offering more intense evidence-based services. However, if the children need to be removed, workers are to first look at kinship placement and then a foster care placement in the most family like setting. This focuses on that child's individual needs. Furthermore, the focus of the Families First Act was to keep African American children in and with African American families. Participant 3 stated,

I think that we tend to offer more services to white people then we do to black people. I think we tend to be quicker to look at other family members and things like that, who are potential helpers on cases, with white people. Then we do black people to be honest.

Participant 4 stated,

I think that where I am frustrated, the Families First Act came in; I was so excited because, we're going to go back to the way it was when I was doing in home and we're going to start looking at those grandmothers. And we're going to look at those family members that are not happening in my area at all and it's very sad because if they would take the time to look at some of these relatives and talk to them and see that they are competent and able to do this and they probably been doing it. Anyway, the kids were going there at the little kids were going there to stay with, Grandma a lot, anyhow, but they just putting black kids right in foster care and they're not taking the time to do, what I feel they should be doing for some of these. The whole idea of the Families First Act besides front-loading service is not going into flux. It's supposed to; you are supposed to be looking at family members, extended family.

Participant 4 also stated,

DHS human services workers are not exploring African American relatives to help with families in crisis. So less than 50% of the African American relatives are being looked at and like the back to what I was saying. I just feel that that's a huge disservice to these African American families and the kids and we should be looking at relatives who are appropriate and they're out there. Relatives are involved in some families before we even get involved. And I realized that, but once DHS gets involved with African American clients extended family should have been looked at right away. I mean, it's should be like when I worked down in Pleasant Valley's as an in-home provider. DHS has a bad reputation and people know when you're involved in a family's life. They're not trusting of the Department any more. It is just a shame.

Participant 7 stated, "African American children are removed on a higher basis than white children, but until you actually see the data in front of you, you may not notice it." Participant 11 stated, I would say that foster parents are predominantly white families. And so, if you did have to do a removal for a child of another race that couldn't be placed with a family member or a family or friends that was, similar to their own background, foster family, a white foster family because I think that that's what most of our families, I do recognize that there's cultural differences between so, I don't know how well, the foster families are educated on cultural diversity.

Participant 12 stated,

people from different cultures, there really isn't anything specific even using the Family First Act as a guideline, aspects of the Family First Act that are helpful certain like in the family preservation services, any time there's a new contract there's growing pains of that contract about arguing over, who's responsible it is to do what and things like that, that unfortunately, African American families who are suffering, when people are arguing whose responsibility it is to supervise a visitor, transport, a client somewhere or things like that. It's a family who's losing out when people are arguing or, you know, disagreeing about whose responsibility it is just take care of the family to get them what they need.

This theme of the Families First Act and African American clients aligns with the research question as the goals of human services case workers are to improve services offered to the families through culturally appropriate and evidence-based services.

Theme 7: Cultural Awareness and Sensitivity Training

The cultural awareness and sensitivity training that human services case workers receive from the state is an integral part of how human services case workers will learn to

interact with their African American and other minority clients. Many participants in this study had strong opinions about cultural awareness and sensitivity training. . Participant 1 stated,

we can listen to these trainings all day, you know about different cultures, but when you're not truly exposed to it and reality very often, it's hard to put into practice, So when you're not being exposed to those different cultures, very frequently, you taking the training and there with you for that day and then you go about your normal business and it kind of fizzles out.

Participant 2 stated,

I'm going to this training and it makes me feel like the bad guy, and so, is that inherence, because of how the training is rolled out, assumption that's being made on the person that's at the training, not necessarily something that's being portrayed at the training itself, active opportunity, strengthen the work, with relation to families and individuals, cultures, when you're talking about culture and doing it in a way that it doesn't necessarily, um shut ears off because of how it being perceived for whatever reason, Yes, one of the mandatory trainings is called, "Race: Power of an Illusion", the training material in itself was very good; however the trainers had a lot to be desired in how it was all presented. Perspective in trainings are very important, I feel like I'm pretty open man. I do. But there are times where I felt like that in that training, not necessarily to the same extent that I've heard from the other workers that almost walked out after lunch for being harassed, but I felt a little like that. The trainers were blaming us white services workers, for being born white and they're the bad people not the Blacks and that all cultural issues are due to white people in power. This was not just in the training I was in, but I talked with other coworkers who attended other scheduled "Race: Power of an Illusion" trainings. Who wants to keep listening when you feel blamed harassed?

Participant 3 stated,

I had one training called "Race: Power of an Illusion" that I went to that a lot of people that I heard from my particular office came out of angry that they felt like they were being kind of yelled at for being a white kind of thing and when I went to same training and I found it pretty, pretty educational and extremely helpful for me as a human services worker, I didn't, I didn't walk in with a chip on my shoulder, grown up, I think it made a difference, I grew up with different perceptive on race, I lived in the flats when I first moved to this Midwestern state and I come from a family where we were military and we've lived around different cultures. So it's not something that has ever been. Um, I don't know. I wasn't raised that with, with a lot of racial bias, So those trainings for me, helped me understand where people are coming from a little bit better, I didn't take it as like, a, a personal insult.

Participant 4 stated,

I thought they were very informative, very enlightening, and I think that it helped me a lot along the way to kind of those aha moments, you know, they would present something that I hadn't really thought about in that way. And so it, I, I think it's very important, and I think that the ones that I attended were very good, and they are extremely helpful. I like when human services say that they didn't have prejudices or biases and then you can go to one of those trainings and they'll start talking about some things and you're like, oh my gosh, I never thought about it that way and maybe I do need to think about, you know, a few things.

Participant 5 stated,

The implicit bias training is great and I acknowledge it and I know that it exists, but I'm not 100% sure that other than what I do on my own which is talked to others, what else I can do to.

Participant 5 also stated, "There just isn't enough training on cultural sensitivity or awareness trainings." Participant 7 stated, "Any training that helps me be more culturally sensitivity or awareness is very important to me, I need to know how to go out and do my work now, culturally sensitive." Participant 7 also stated,

I think when you're trying to teach a cultural competency training and you don't have a variety of people in attendance or training it makes it very difficult, I do, remember from my Race: Power of an Illusion training is that was a majority of a white room and only a couple I think one of the trainers was African-American, I don't know if I even remember that for sure, but I do remember there was only like one or two African-American participants and they felt like every single time that a question got raised that they were supposed to answer for the whole African American race. And they were like, why do you keep looking to us to answer these questions? It shouldn't be my role in this training.

Participant 8 stated,

cultural trainings that we've received are very base level, are extremely helpful, but also easy to forget if you don't interact with that demographic very often, demographic I work in that is not extremely, culturally diverse, it's minority culturally diverse, not a lot of follow up or in-depth further, education of those, more established cultures that may be different that is sanctioned and lead and driven by my agency.

Participant 8 also stated,

take for instance the Race: Power of an Illusion training, sometimes our cultural trainings are co-opted into a if you're up this culture, you're innately bad or if you're of that culture you're a pre-designated victim, which I don't think is accurate and or the most effective way to train our staff or to educate them. Participant 11 stated,

Race: Power of an Illusion training they made me feel guilty about being a white person and I think that it really. I mean when you get that, I mean it was an allday training and then when that side starts getting pushed off like almost from the start of the training it really it made for a long day, I listen to the training because you don't really have any choice but to participate because there was a lot of activities and things, but it really when people start to like shut down and become closed-minded like that would be a good example of a training that would cause you to shut down and be closed minded a before lunch because of how they direct you. Participant 11 also stated,

Training should have provided us with like useful information, like where can I can we help the families that we are working with better identify resources? Even talking to us about different values and practices between cultures, they could break like rather than having to be like one all day training. I mean, maybe you say it's a break it out in two different sessions were like, we have ICWA training for the Indian Child Welfare and you get a lot of background about. The Native Americans, I mean, why couldn't they do that with other cultures.

This theme of the cultural awareness and sensitivity training that human services case workers receive aligns with the research question because the culturally sensitive, evidence-based services they offer are proportionate to the training they receive.

Theme 8: Lack of Trust in Human Services Case Workers

The lack of trust in human services case workers in the child welfare system is prevalent in African American and minority areas. Participant 1 stated,

For me it is building trust and earning their trust, it's the idea of trust, you know, if they trust you and they know that I trust them, and then they're going to work with me. As opposed to you know, workers that are closed minded and they treat every single person the same, with that all hope of trust disappears.

Participant 1 further stated,

we need to take into consideration, what is their norm? And to what extent, we kind of accept it that they're norm and use that to our advantage and gain that trust and build on those things that they value.

Participants 3 stated,

when meeting new clients the first time, I like to have them tell me about their background, as well as why they think I was assigned their case. We discuss what child safety means to them, as well as their goals and what they want to get out of case. My plan is to build trust and rapport with my clients and then continue to build on that trust and rapport as we work together.

Participant 3 also stated, "I think that clients will work harder and try their best if there is mutual trust, as well as the worker doing their best and cultural sensitivity builds a solid foundation for the clients to work on." Participant 3 further stated,

so, we walk in with our ideas of not understanding why they don't trust us, and it's still very fresh in their memories. And so, we come in with this attitude. They have a feeling of distrust for us. Well, then we get butt-hurt, because how dare they not trust me and have an attitude with me.

Participant 4 stated, "So it all comes down to trust and getting people to trust you and see you." Participant 4 also stated,

higher level of distrust in the African American community when DHS or an inhome your contracting agency for DHS comes in the home, whole level of mistrust is passed down to the kids, much more guarded life and harder to trust someone many times more than the Caucasian families, much more guarded life and harder to trust someone many times more than the Caucasian families, trickles down to the kids, you know that level of distrust and don't talk to DHS. Don't tell them anything or, you know, they're worried that, you know, kids are going to be removed and things like that. So, I think it is that level of distrust is more prevalent among African American children then maybe in the Caucasian children.

Participant 10 stated,

I think sometimes it's hard for some families who come from the minority groups to be open and accepting and trustworthy of child welfare worker, in our areas, just because they feel that they're already not understood or they feel they're already going to be judged without being given an opportunity to really have someone understand who they are, and where they come from, trust and to try to be open and honest and share that information and sometimes that's difficult for families. That first, it takes some time to build that trust before they're willing to open up and share, you know, how things are in their world.

Participant 11 stated,

the first thing is the color of their skin, or some other things like that and it's like okay, but how are you going to approach them and still engage with them and still gain their trust and have an understanding of what's expected and how we're going to work together.

Participant 12 stated, "Imagine that you are removed from your parents. You're a Browncolored child and you're expected to get into a car with this White person, who maybe you've been taught to not trust White people."

This theme of the lack of trust for human services case workers aligns with the research question because if human service case workers can build trust and

understanding, that improves the relationship between the client and the human services case worker.

Theme 9: Rural Versus Urban Areas and Population

Rural areas in the Upper Midwest section of the United States may contribute to the issues of lack of cultural awareness and lack of evidence-based services for African American and minority populations and clients. Participant 1 stated, "So truthfully and looking at kind of a diversity standpoint, we don't see a whole lot of different cultures in our area." Participant 1 also stated,

Different cultures out there that we need to be aware of and we need to be educating ourselves in as we as we come across with different cultures that we might not be familiar with our might not have a lot of information or education on.

Participant 1 further stated, "I work mainly with lower and lower middle class white families and Hispanic families and only a few Black families in my area." Participant 1 also stated, "You heard about different cultures, but when you're not truly exposed to it and reality very often, it's hard to put into practice." Participant 2 stated,

Every situation culturally is going to have a unique perspective, sensitivity training that relates to a pretty small population, not that they're not important. I think it sends the message that, you know, culture, really. It's just a race issue. I think that's. I think a lot of times people get.

Participant 8 stated,

Relative to the day and where you're at, some communities that are more rural and have less diversity versus some other communities that are, you know, extremely diverse that have regular things that you have to understand to be able to best serve the population of people.

Participant 8 also stated, "It easy to forget if you don't interact with that demographic very often, demographic I work in that is not extremely, culturally diverse." Participant 10 stated,

It's pretty unlikely unless you live in an urban area that you're going to have the opportunity to work with someone that might come from the same culture or race is that family that you're engaging with, the larger Metro areas are where the African American families reside. There's a definite disadvantage to those families because they are not, you know, our minority families because they are not going to you have the opportunity to work with someone that maybe straight out might have a better understanding of what their needs or culture are.

Participant 11 stated, "It is challenging, in a lot of small towns and towns that are spread far apart, say that that creates like a lack of resources in some areas, and transportation barriers to get to the resources." Participant 11 also stated,

I've had several cases over the years but it's not like I don't consistently have diverse families on my caseload, I think that using like, evidence-based practices is my best bet for being able to meet the families like cultural or being able to accommodate cultural things for them. This theme of rural versus urban areas and population aligns with the research question. Human service case workers in more rural areas do not have the opportunity to work with African Americans or other minority populations weekly or monthly. When human service case workers receive clients that are African American or other minority populations, they may not be culturally aware or sensitive.

Theme 10: Trust and Rapport Building

Establishing trust and building rapport are critical components for human services case workers to serve clients better and create relationships. Participant 1 stated, "My plan is to build trust and rapport with my clients and then continue to build on that trust and rapport as we work together." Participant 1 also stated,

I do my best to meet African American and minority clients where they are and I try to educate myself on cultural differences. When meeting with an African American family, I want to know what their beliefs are and where they come from, and how they were raised; I try to interpret how they raised their children differently than my family would. We have just a bunch of different cultures within the aspect of Human Services. I mean, it's not just a black-white issue. It's an issue where I've had clients, who are deaf; DHS workers just ignored that issue.

Participant 1 further stated,

If I'm with a Spanish family and I'm not trying to accommodate their language. I'm not going to be able to build a rapport, weird limbo where it's the superficial, on the surface, it doesn't go any deeper, but when you take the time to understand life and where somebody is actually coming from and how their background does impact, the way they parent and the way they live and how things are. You're able to build an actual relationship with people and you're actually able to make progress and move a case along.

Participant 3 stated,

Where as a Black family is going to be like, oh shit, here comes this white social worker who has no clue what's going on and she's going to immediately judge me. And we're going to yank the kid and we do tend to be more forceful, and on edge, when we're dealing with a Black family vs. a White family, it's just our comfort level, with a White family is, you know, they're more like us versus a Black family. We already have our guard up a little bit and they have their guard up a little bit and it doesn't make for very good rapport building.

Participant 7 stated,

Engagement, I think it plays one of the biggest pieces, meeting a family, where they're at and, um, what their understandings of things are, I think being able to understand. Where somebody's coming from off of that first interaction does a lot for rapport-building, what things are going to look like into the future life, like into the casework part of a case, if you've messed up somewhere and having been culturally sensitive. I think that can hurt the rest of your life longevity of that case. when I first meet with a family is level with simply being a human, have in common no matter what so sometimes I don't want to say that I downplay my role as a DHS worker, I still want the family to understand the seriousness, it's just a simple engagement on a different level.

Participant 8 stated,

Depending on the perception of the agency, predisposed impression of whatever that agency or social work is, dramatically affects how the family and or the person choose to interact with any agency on that those initial contacts, work through that, build a good rapport and a better understanding if the designated family or person gives you the time and opportunities to do that, subconscious impressions of an agency, its whole are kind of built into people at the same time. And that has a dramatic effect on effectiveness and outcomes.

Participant 10 stated, "It takes some time to build that trust before they're willing to open up and share." Participant 12 stated,

How you approach families, take the time to ask them about themselves, what they believe, what is important to them? What you can do to make them feel more comfortable when you are in their presence. Just really trying to make it a point to be aware of what those differences are and respect.

This theme of trust and rapport building aligns with the research question because if human service case workers do not attempt to build rapport and a relationship with their African American and minority clients, then human service case workers will not be culturally sensitive to their African American and minority clients needs.

Discrepant Cases

There were no discrepant cases to factor into the data analysis; however, one of the participant's responses to the training question deviated from the norm. This outlier only had positive responses regarding the training the state offered. I do not know why this participant responded differently than the other participants. This outlier did not vary from the norm in responding to the other interview questions and did not require further study.

Summary

In Chapter 4, the settings for the study were discussed, along with demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and the study results. In this study, the 10 themes that emerged were importance of cultural competency, effective evidence-based services, human services case workers' biases, lack of diversity in human services case workers, cultural upbringing and environment, Families First Act and African American clients, cultural awareness and sensitivity training, lack of trust of the human services case workers, rural vs. urban areas and population, and trust and rapport building.

In Chapter 5, I will review and evaluate this study with prior findings to establish whether the results of this study confirm, disconfirm, or extend knowledge in the discipline of prior research studies. Chapter 5 provides the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications, and the study's conclusion. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families. This study contributed to filling the gap in the literature on how the perceptions of human services case workers providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to their African American clients may improve services offered to the families. This study may help increase the knowledge of other human services case workers and stakeholders in improving services to African Americans. Through the provision of information on the benefits of using culturally sensitive, evidence-based services and referrals, African American families may be better served, and child safety and well-being may be improved in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States.

The main themes that emerged in this study were importance of cultural competency, effective evidence-based services, human services case workers' biases, lack of diversity in human services case workers, cultural upbringing and environment, Families First Act and African American clients, cultural awareness and sensitivity training, lack of trust of the human services case workers, rural versus urban areas and population, and trust and rapport building. In this chapter, I present my interpretation of the findings and the study's limitations, recommendations, implications, and conclusion.

102

Interpretation of the Findings

Theme 1: Importance of Cultural Competency

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the importance of cultural competency. The participants agreed that the cultural competency of human services case workers was an integral element in being able to help and understand their racial minority clients. Human services case workers who are culturally competent engage culturally diverse clients' reality in a genuine, authentic, and accepting manner (Alvarez-Hernandez & Choi, 2017; Bauer & Bai, 2018; Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). Cultural competency allows human services case workers to feel more comfortable and be more effective in their interactions and relationship building with their clients to serve them better. The participants in the current study stated that cultural competency requires that they understand things that are different from their culture, whether it has to do with race, religion, gender, gender orientation, or any other cultural belief. The participants stated that they do their best to be competent and understand those who are different from them. The participants stated that cultural competency is the ability to understand that people's backgrounds are different and to consider that people's histories are different when working with families, parents, and children. Furthermore, the participants stated that they should be aware that some families view family, roles, and safety differently than what middle class European American human services case workers do, and they must not be offensive or disrespectful to their clients.

The theme of cultural competency aligned with the conceptual framework for this study, which was the family systems theory. Child welfare is a system for human services case workers based on perceptions, boundaries, and relationships that align with the family systems theory (Thompson et al., 2019). The theme of the importance of cultural competency supported family systems theory because the human services workers' perceptions of providing culturally sensitive services to African American families is integral in serving and helping the family dynamic and the family functioning system.

Theme 2: Effective Evidence-Based Services

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding effective evidence-based services. The purpose of offering evidence-based services is to incorporate evidence into the human services workers' practice by considering the clients' needs, wishes, and values while combining the human services workers' clinical expertise in the child welfare field (Myers et al., 2019). Landers et al. (2018) contended that using evidence-based programs in child welfare improves the outcomes for children and families. When the human services case workers and the clients are willing to engage in the intervention, positive interactions lead to more trust between the families and human services case workers. The participants in the current study stated that evidence-based services make a difference because evidence-based services focus on the needs of that family to be successful, which benefits the clients. The participants also stated that evidence-based services are beneficial interventions in helping the client. The participants agreed that when they use evidence-based services, they focus on what the family needs and help them make the case plan themselves. The

participants further agreed that they would be successful when evidence-based services focus on what the clients feel they need.

The findings in this study in regard to evidence-based services aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. In family systems theory, triangles may occur when human services case workers engage the family. Human services case workers need to understand their role in the triangle when regulating the tasks and interventions the parents need to complete and controlling the interactions between the parent and the child (Klever, 2009; Thompson et al., 2019). Family systems theory was an appropriate lens for understanding the human services case workers' roles in their involvement with the family. Human services case workers' perceptions of providing evidence-based services to African American and racial minority families are integral in serving and helping the family dynamic and functioning system.

Theme 3: Human Services Case Workers' Biases

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding human services case workers' bias. Olcoń (2019) explored numerous racial minority clients who stated that they experienced being marginalized and discriminated against by human services case workers. The current participants confirmed the bias in their work lives and the work lives of their coworkers. The participants stated that there is a need to hold themselves accountable and their coworkers accountable when they are not being sensitive to cultural differences. The participants stated that they had had numerous African American and racial minority clients who had felt that they were marginalized and discriminated against due to the bias of human services case workers. Cheng and Lo

(2018) stated that due to a lack of cultural awareness and racial bias by human services case workers, most African American families involved in the child welfare system do not receive appropriate services. The cultural bias any human services case worker may have toward their clients may increase the clients' feelings of being marginalized and discriminated against by their human services case worker. The participants in the current study stated that they have their own biases and should be aware of their thoughts and prejudices when working with clients. The participants stated that they hold their personal biases, whether they are recognized or not. The participants stated that human services case workers tend to offer more services to European American clients than to racial minority clients. The participants stated that they think human services case workers tend to be quicker to look at other family members in times of crisis who are potential helpers on cases with European American clients than with racial minority clients. The participants stated that they have coworkers who go into racial minority clients' homes with bias and poor attitudes, so there is no connection with the family. The participants stated that their coworkers need to learn to become more knowledgeable about their biases and encourage other human services case workers not to be afraid to hold their peers accountable.

The findings in this study in regard to human services case workers' bias aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. Human services case workers work within a child welfare organization in which hierarchies, structures, capacity, functions, and biases are similar to a family structure. M. Bowen (1978) stated that one of the primary concepts in family systems theory focuses on the integration of self. Human services case workers need to be aware of their biases toward families during their integration of self. The participants stated that their perceptions and acknowledgment of their biases toward racial minority and African American families are fundamental in serving and helping the family dynamic and functioning system.

Theme 4: Lack of Diversity in Human Services Case Workers

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the lack of diversity in human services case workers. Olcon (2019) stated that African American and other racial minority clients preferred having human services case workers from the same ethnic or cultural background. Current participants stated that African American families feel distrust because many of the human services case workers are European American in the Upper Midwest service area addressed in the study. Having African American and racial minority human services case workers would be helpful. The participants stated that when the racial minority clients see the department, they see only European American people who do not understand their culture or values. Structural barriers such as lack of cultural awareness of social workers, institutional racism, lack of diversity of case workers, and lack of adequate resources that serve diverse populations may prevent African American and other racial minority families from receiving culturally sensitive, evidence-based services (Garcia et al., 2019; Olcoń, 2019). Current participants stated that the department should represent the population they serve. The participants stated that it is hard for people from racial minority groups in the area to be open, accepting, and trustworthy of human services case workers because

they feel they are not understood or are judged without being allowed to have someone understand who they are.

The findings in this study in regard to lack of diversity in human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. Family systems theory addresses the relationships in a family through its hierarchies, structures, capacity, and functions (Thompson et al., 2019). Family systems theory may be used to explore human services workers whose child welfare organization has hierarchies, structures, capacity, and functions similar to a family structure. The participants stated that the lack of diversity in management (hierarchies and function) does not support clients' needs. The participants stated that it is difficult for a group of middle-age European Americans to know what is best for African Americans and other people from racial minority groups. The participants stated that the lack of diversity of human services case workers (structures and capacity) helps to create mistrust for the clients, which fosters the feeling of being marginalized and discriminated against by European American human services case workers and the department.

Theme 5: Cultural Upbringing and Environment

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review in regard to the importance of cultural upbringing and environment of the human services case workers. According to Colvin (2020), to work effectively with various ethnic groups and culturally diverse community members, human service case workers should understand the importance of ethnicity and how it influences thoughts, behaviors, and responses to services. The participants agreed that their cultural upbringing had played a

significant role in their perceptions of their clients and developing working relationships with them. The participants stated that human services case workers might be shocked when meeting African American, other racial minority, and culturally diverse clients because their culture differs from European American middle class values and upbringing. Bauer and Bai (2018) stated that by valuing the diversity of the clients, human services case workers could better meet the needs of their clients by delivering more appropriate and compassionate service. The participants stated that when they are not exposed to diverse cultures, it is hard to be culturally sensitive and aware. The participants stated that due to their upbringing, perspective, life views, and culture, it is hard to understand a client's different culture and how it impacts that family. The participants stated that human services case workers may project their own European American culture onto their African American and racial minority clients to make it easier on themselves by not being culturally sensitive.

The findings in this study in regard to the importance of cultural upbringing and environment of the human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. According to M. Bowen (1966), people's attitudes and beliefs about relationships play a role in their relationship patterns. Current participants stated that their beliefs, values, and upbringing are not necessarily the norms when dealing with African American and racial minority families. Participants also stated that it is essential to meet families where they are and to stay aware of the human services case workers' beliefs and not try to force those beliefs or goals on the clients or their families. The participants stated that they need to stay cognizant that their lives are different from their racial minority clients' lives and accept that the clients are the experts in their lives. The participants stated that they do not always have the same values or beliefs as their African American or culturally diverse clients.

Theme 6: Families First Act and African American Clients

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the Families First Act and the relationship between African American clients and human services case workers. The Family First Prevention Services Act is aimed at African American families to keep children safely with their families when the families come to the attention of the child welfare system. If the children need to be removed, workers are to look at kinship placement and then a foster care placement in the most family-like setting, which focuses on that child's individual needs (Lindell et al., 2020; Yampolskaya et al., 2020). Current participants stated that human services case workers must use evidence-based services to encourage those children and families to receive services that have demonstrated success in assisting families. The participants stated that human services case workers in this Upper Midwest urban setting tend to offer more services to European American families than to African American families.

Furthermore, the participants stated that human services case workers tend to look at other family members or placements with European American families than with African American families. The participants stated that the Families First Act directives are not being adhered to because human services case workers are not exploring African American relatives to help families in crisis. The participants stated that once the department gets involved with African American clients, the extended family should look for familial support and possible placement for children who are removed from their parents. However, the participants stated that less than 50% of the African American relatives are being looked at, which is a disservice to the African American families. The participants stated that African American children are removed at a higher rate than European American children. However, until human services case workers see the data in front of them, they may not notice the facts.

The findings in this study regarding Families First Act and African American clients aligned with the family systems theory conceptual framework. According to family systems theory, when families are in crisis, the emotional responsiveness process in the family ego mass may involve all nuclear family, extended family members, nonfamily members, and representatives of social service agencies and the courts (Bowen, 1966). The Family First Act could counterbalance to relieve the crisis and help the family by including extended family members, nonfamily members, human services case workers, and appropriate culturally sensitive and evidence-based services. However, according to the participants, this is not adequately done in this Upper Midwest service area. The participants stated that any time the service providers sign new contracts, there are disruptions in services. At the same time, roles and responsibilities are defined between the department and the contracting service providers. The participants stated that when human services case workers and service providers are disagreeing on whose responsibility it is to supervise a visit, transport a client, do home inspections, locate extended family members, or relative placements, it is the family who is not receiving adequate services during this transition period.

Theme 7: Cultural Awareness and Sensitivity Training

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the regarding the cultural awareness and sensitivity training of human services case workers. According to Colvin (2020), to work effectively with various ethnic groups and culturally diverse community members, human services case workers should understand the importance of ethnicity and how it influences thoughts, behaviors, and responses to services. Cultural awareness and sensitivity is the process by which human services case workers interact respectfully and effectively with people of all cultures, languages, classes, races, ethnic backgrounds, religions, and other diversity factors in a way that will recognize, affirm and value the individual or family (Lovato-Hermann et al., 2017). Cultural awareness and sensitivity training should allow human services case workers to feel more comfortable, thereby being more effective in their interactions and relationship with their African American and racial minority clients. The participants stated that the primary and mandatory training required by the state is the Race: Power of an Illusion training. The participants negatively perceived the Race: Power of an Illusion training. The participants stated that the trainers made them feel guilty about being European American. The participants stated that the state training needs to be improved. In the mandatory cultural competency training, The Power: of an Illusion, the participants stated that they felt unwarranted bias from the trainers. The participant's consensus was negative, despite some helpful information and literature.

The findings in this study in regard to cultural awareness and sensitivity training of human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. The relationship between a human service case worker and his or her client may determine the client's success or failure in the child welfare system (Thompson et al., 2019; Thompson & Colvin, 2017). The relationship between human services case workers and minority clients can be enhanced by human services case workers who are culturally aware and sensitive toward their minority clients. When human services case workers attend mandatory training where they perceive negative bias from the trainers for being European American, their perceptions, boundaries, and relationship negatively impact their roles of serving African American and minority clients with cultural awareness and sensitivity. The participants stated that they desire effective culturally sensitivity or awareness training so that they can better serve their minority clients by being more culturally sensitive.

Theme 8: Lack of Trust in Human Services Case Workers

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the regarding the lack of trust of the human services case workers. There is a need for human service case workers to work in partnership with their minority clients, and that may be accomplished by building trust and rapport between themselves and their minority clients (Alvarez-Hernandez & Choi, 2017; Olcoń, 2019). The participants stated that there is a higher distrust in the African American community when human services case workers who represent DHS come into their homes. The family's past experiences with the child welfare system may have left them feeling that they are a marginalized group of individuals who have experienced bias, trauma, mistrust, stigma, and racial discrimination at the hands of the child welfare system (Garcia et al., 2018). The

participants stated that this distrust is passed down to African American children, so they learn to be guarded and have been told not to speak with human services case workers about things happening in their homes. The participants stated that the lack of trust comes from the high number of African American children who are removed from their parents and families. The participants stated that there is a lack of trust from families from minority groups, so they are not open, accepting, or trustworthy of their human services case worker. The participants stated that African American and minority clients who feel misunderstood or negatively judged might create barriers in this Upper Midwest service area. Being open and honest and sharing their information can be difficult for minority families. The participants stated that when human services case workers are closed mind, they may perceive that minority families do not trust them.

The findings in this study regarding lack of trust of the human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory for this basic qualitative study. According to M. Bowen (1966), people's attitudes and beliefs about relationships play a role in their relationship patterns. When there is a lack of trust in human services case workers by their African American and minority clients, the opportunity of developing the needed working relationship is absent. The participants stated that getting clients to trust them and see them as a helper is important. The participants stated that the first thing that European American human services case workers and African American clients may see is the color of others' skin, which may affect how are they going to approach each other and engage with each other to gain trust and determine how are they going to work together.

Theme 9: Rural Versus Urban Areas and Population

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the regarding rural versus urban areas and populations that human services case workers serve. The geographic location of African American families appears to be a risk factor for the disproportionate reporting of African American families to child welfare services in urban heterogeneous neighborhoods when African American family represents a visible minority in the general population and in rural geographic settings are related to greater rates of child abuse reporting for Black youth, but not for White youth (Cénat et al., 2021). Some appropriate services are available in rural areas, such as early intervention programs; however, in many rural areas, services and resources may be unavailable to families or children (Cheng & Lo, 2018; Garcia et al., 2016). The participants stated that it is challenging in some small towns and towns that are spread far apart versus urban areas, as there is a lack of resources in rural areas and transportation barriers to get the resources to the clients. The participants stated that unless minority clients live in an urban area, then minority clients are not going to have the opportunity to work with service providers who might come from the same culture or race. The participants stated that there may be a disadvantage for African American families in rural areas in the this Upper Midwest area because African American families may not have the opportunity to work with human services case workers or service providers that might have a better understanding of what African American families need. The participants stated that it easy for human services case workers to forget to be culturally sensitive or culturally aware if European American human services case worker do not

interact with that minority population often and that some rural demographic areas are not culturally diverse in this Upper Midwest service area.

The findings in this study regarding rural versus urban areas and populations served by human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. The perceptions of human services case workers in the child welfare field affect the children and their families that human services case workers serve. When human services case workers have negative perceptions and negative boundaries in their relationship with their clients, it may be the family who suffers (Thompson et al., 2019). The participants stated that many human services case workers mainly serve lower and lower middle class White and Hispanic families and only a few African American families in this Upper Midwest service area. The participants stated that some European American human services case workers may have only heard about different cultures. However, it is hard to put cultural sensitivity into practice when European American human services case workers are not exposed to different cultures.

Theme 10: Trust and Rapport Building

The findings of this study confirmed the information from the literature review regarding the regarding trust and rapport building of the human services case workers with their clients. The differences between people due to race, ethnicity, and culture, as well as from family background and individual experience, all contribute to distrust (Be'eri et al., 2019). Developing a working relationship between human services case workers' ability to develop trust and rapport with their clients (Garcia, 2018). When both the human services

case workers and their African American and minority clients are willing to engage in the interventions, positive interactions lead to more trust, which increases the cultural relationship between the families and human service workers. The participants stated that human services case workers' plan of action to build a positive relationship begins with building trust and rapport with their clients and then continue to build on that trust and rapport as they work together. The participants stated that when human services case workers meet with an African American or culturally different family for the first time, they should get to know what that families' beliefs are, where they come from, and how they were raised. Human services case workers should try to interpret how the family has raised their children differently than their own family. The participants stated that they have many different cultures within the aspect of human services in the Upper Midwest service area. The participants stated that some human services case workers do not try to build a rapport and their interactions with clients are superficial. However, when human services case workers take the time to understand where somebody is coming from and how their background impacts the way they parent and live, they can build a relationship with people based on trust and be able to make progress and help families.

The findings in this study in regard to trust and rapport building by human services case workers aligned with the conceptual framework of family systems theory. Often when a human service worker becomes involved with a family, there is usually a shift in power, with the human service worker becoming the authoritative figure for the household (Holt & Kelly, 2016; Mackenzie et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2019). Human services case workers could eliminate this power struggle within the family by building trust and rapport with the family. The participants stated that building trust and rapport supports the engagement process when first meeting the family. The participants stated that the human services case workers and minority clients' first interaction does a lot for rapport-building, and it may be a determining factor on how interactions are going to look in the future life, as well as the successful completion of the racial minority families case plan. The participants stated that some human services case workers may make mistakes in their initial interactions with racial minority clients or may not be culturally sensitive. The participants stated that poor rapport and lack of trust between European American human services case workers and racial minority clients might hurt the rest of the life longevity of that case and not provide positive outcomes for racial minority families. The participants stated that building trust and rapport is simply being human and acknowledging what the human services case worker and the clients have in common. However, human services case worker needs to avoid downplaying their role as human services case worker, as clients need to understand the seriousness of the situation.

Limitations of the Study

There were limitations in this study. There were limitations in the methodology of this study. There is a potential limitation in transferability as this study included the perceptions of 12 human services case workers from one state in the Upper Midwest of the United States. Sykes et al. (2018) recommended sample size of between three and 16 participants in qualitative studies. According to Saldana (2016), transferability may combine other studies to transfer and compare the theory and study. According to Korstjens and Moser (2018), it is the reader of the study and not the researcher who

makes the decision if transferability is met based on the framework and settings of the research process. Therefore, transferability of the findings of this study may be a limitation. A limitation of this study may include generalizability, as there were a limited number of participants to gather perceptions and experiences from within this study, and the outcomes may not be considered as typical perceptions and experiences of all human services case workers. Another limitation of this study may include researcher bias. My previous working experience may lead to potential bias while collecting and analyzing the data. To mitigate any of my own biases from skewing data, I bracketed my preconceived biases and ideas in a research journal. A limitation in this study may have been the outlier who only had positive responses regarding the cultural awareness training offered by the state. The outlier may have attended an earlier Race: Power of an Illusion training with different trainers or the outlier may not have wanted to state any complaints against their employer.

Recommendations

I conducted this study to understand the perceptions of human service case workers who offered culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients in a single state in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families. If this study was to be replicated, I would recommend expanding the scope of this study to include multiple states in an Upper Midwest setting in the United States to improve generalizability and increase the array of data collected. Recommendations for further research include qualitative studies using the perceptions of African American clients receiving culturally appropriate and evidence-based services to explore if services, interventions, levels of trust, and relationships with their human service case workers have improved.

Another recommendation for future research would be to conduct a study using a qualitative case study method. Using a qualitative case study would be an effective way to focus exploratory studies on gathering information on the real-life experiences of human services case workers. The fundamental nature of a case study is that it tries to clarify a decision or set of decisions, why they were taken, how they were implemented, and what the results were (Ebneyamini & Sadeghi Moghadam, 2018). A qualitative case study method would allow the researcher to experience the participants' reality as individuals in their child welfare environment and allow for more rich and detailed data.

An additional recommendation for future research would be to conduct a study using a phenomenological research methodology. A phenomenological approach focuses on understanding how firsthand experiences and personal views influence how individuals interpret their social environment. A phenomenological approach may be used to develop an understanding of the perspective of participants' lived experiences. Phenomenology studies present a distinctive methodology for probing into the lived experience of the participants (Frechette et al., 2020). A phenomenological research methodology might provide more descriptive experiences from human services case workers' perceptions of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American clients.

Implications

This study promotes positive social change in that it creates a better understanding of human services case workers and the perceptions of their experiences of offering culturally appropriate, evidence-based services to their African American and racial minority clients in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the United States to improve services offered to families. This study further promotes positive social change by helping increase the knowledge of offering practical, culturally appropriate, evidencebased services for other human services case workers, stakeholders, policymakers, management, and decision-makers in the child welfare system and improving services offered to African American and other racial minority clients. Providing helpful information on the benefits of using culturally sensitive, evidence-based services and interventions, African American families may be better served, and child safety and wellbeing could be improved in the child welfare system in the United States (Garcia et al., 2019). Furthermore, this study promotes positive social change by developing human services case workers who are culturally appropriate and work to build positive relationships with their African American clients, which may have a positive social impact on reducing the disproportionality of African American children in the child welfare system.

The practice recommendations are for other human services case workers and community service providers in the child welfare system to offer culturally appropriate and evidence-based services to their African American and racial minority clients to help reduce the disproportionality of African American and racial minority families in a child welfare foster care system. Culturally appropriate services may allow racial minority families to address the needs brought to the child welfare system's attention and achieve the goals required by their human service case workers to parent their children safely (Olcoń, 2019).

Conclusion

The perceptions of human services case workers have a direct bearing on their professional and personal lives and their abilities to develop positive and effective relationships with African American and racial minority clients and families. When child welfare human services case workers are involved with families, it is typically at a time of crisis and chaos for the family. The relationships that human services case workers build with families may be one of the deciding factors of whether that family becomes more robust and healthier, the crisis is relieved, or the removal of the children from their homes becomes necessary. Based on this study, when human services case workers develop a positive relationship with their African American and racial minority families built on cultural awareness, cultural sensitivity, and trust, their African American and minority clients will be better served.

References

- Akin, B., Brook, J., Byers, K., & Lloyd, M. (2016). Worker perspectives from the front line: Implementation of evidence-based interventions in child welfare settings. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 25(3), 870–882. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0283-7
- Akin, B. A., Johnson, M. M., Davis, S., Paceley, M., & Brook, J. (2018). Parent perspectives of engagement in the strengthening families program: An evidence-based intervention for families in child welfare and affected by parental substance use. *Child & Family Social Work*, 23(4), 735–742.

https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12470

- Allwood, C. M. (2012). The distinction between qualitative and quantitative research methods is problematic. *Quality and Quantity*, 46, 1417–1429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-011-9455-8</u>
- Alvarez-Hernandez, L. R., & Choi, Y. J. (2017). Reconceptualizing culture in social work practice and education: A dialectic and uniqueness awareness approach. *Journal* of Social Work Education, 53(3), 384–398.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2016.1272511

Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4</u>

Aparicio, E., Pecukonis, E. V., & Zhou, K. (2014). Sociocultural factors of teenage

pregnancy in Latino communities: Preparing social workers for culturally responsive practice. *Health & Social Work*, *39*(4), 238–243. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlu032

Aquilani, B., Abbate, T., & Codini, A. (2017). Overcoming cultural barriers in open innovation processes through intermediaries: A theoretical framework.
 Knowledge Management Research & Practice, 15(3), 447–459.
 https://doi.org/10.1057/s41275-017-0067-5

- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using
 Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and
 experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, N.PAG. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596</u>
- Arditti, J. A., Molloy, S., Spiers, S., & Johnson, E. I. (2019). Perceptions of nonresident father involvement among low-income youth and their single parents. *Family Relations*, 68(1), 68–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12346</u>
- Arroyo, J., & Peek, C. W. (2015). Child welfare caseworkers' characteristics and their attitudes toward non-custodial fathers. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 47, 140–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.06.007</u>

Arroyo, J., Zsembik, B., & Peek, C. W. (2019). Ain't nobody got time for dad? Racialethnic disproportionalities in child welfare casework practice with nonresident fathers. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 93, 182–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.03.014</u> Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018).
 Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667</u>

Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00035

- Azzopardi, C. (2020). Cross-cultural social work: A critical approach to teaching and learning to work effectively across intersectional identities. *British Journal of Social Work*, 50(2), 464–482. <u>https://doi-org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz169</u>
- Azzopardi, C., & McNeill, T. (2016). From cultural competence to cultural consciousness: Transitioning to a critical approach to working across differences in social work. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work: Innovation in Theory, Research & Practice*, 25(4), 282–299.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2016.1206494
- Balmer, S., Matthewson, M., & Haines, J. (2018). Parental alienation: Targeted parent perspective. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 70 (1), 91–99.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12159

Barbee, A., Rice, C., Antle, B. F., Henry, K., & Cunningham, M. R. (2018). Factors affecting turnover rates of public child welfare front line workers: Comparing cohorts of title IV-E program graduates with regularly hired and trained staff. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 12(3), 354–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2018.1457589

- Bauer, K., & Bai, Y. (2018). Using a model to design activity-based educational experiences to improve cultural competency among graduate students. *Pharmacy*, 6(2), 48. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmacy6020048
- Baumann, A. A., Powell, B. J., Kohl, P. L., Tabak, R. G., Penalba, V., Proctor, E. K.,
 Domenech-Rodriguez, M. M., & Cabassa, L. J. (2015). Cultural adaptation and
 implementation of evidence-based parent-training: A systematic review and
 critique of guiding evidence. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 53, 113–120.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.03.025
- Be'eri, E., Beeri, M., & Cohen, T. (2019). Cultural competence in a context of ethnic tension. *Israel Journal of Health Policy Research*, 8(1), 51.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13584-019- 0317-5
- Benton, A. D., Chenot, D., & Boutakidis, I. (2017). Somebody's gotta be there for these kids: Importance of service orientation for sustaining public child welfare workers. *Journal of Public Child Welfare, 11*(3), 339–359. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2017.1279106
- Benuto, L. T., Singer, J., Casas, J., González, F., & Ruork, A. (2018). The evolving definition of cultural competency: A mixed methods study. *International Journal* of Psychology and Psychological Therapy, 18(3), 371–384 https://doi.org/10.1037/tep0000214
- Bertilsson, I., Gyllensten, A. L., Opheim, A., Gard, G., & Sjödahl Hammarlund, C. (2018). Understanding one's body and movements from the perspective of young

adults with autism: A mixed-methods study. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 78, 44–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2018.05.002</u>

- Birkett, M., Espelage, D.L., & Koenig, B. (2009). LGB and questioning students in school: The moderating effects of homophobic bullying and school climate on negative outcomes. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 38*, 989–1000. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-008-9389-1
- Bourrie, D. M., Cegielski, C. G., Jones-Farmer, L. A., & Sankar, C. S. (2014). Identifying characteristics of dissemination success using an expert panel. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, *12*(4), 357–380.

https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12049

Bowen, G. A. (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note. *Qualitative Research*, 8(1), 137–152.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301

- Bowen, M. (1966). The use of family theory in clinical practice. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 7, 345–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-440X(66)80065-2
- Bowen, M. (1976). Theory and practice in psychotherapy. In P. J. Guerin (Eds.), *Family therapy: Theory and practice* (pp. 42–90). Gardner Press.
- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 4, https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282
- Breakthrough Series Collaborative. (2016). *Measuring disproportionality*. Webster County Packet.

- Brewsaugh, K., Masyn, K. E., & Salloum, A. (2018). Child welfare workers' sexism and beliefs about father involvement. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 89, 132– 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.04.029
- Brown, J. (1999). Bowen family systems theory and practice: Illustration and critique. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 20, 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1467-8438
- Burden, R. S., Galloway, L. N., Rothpletz, A. M., Glasheen, K. A., & Preminger, J. E. (2020). The development of an internet-based decision coaching guide to encourage audiology care: The results of a participatory design approach. *American Journal of Audiology, 29*(3S), 546–563. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020_AJA-19-00066
- Caelli, K., Ray, L., & Mill, J. (2003). 'Clear as mud': Toward greater clarity in generic qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200201</u>
- Campbell, C. A., Howard, D., Rayford, B. S., & Gordon, D.M. (2015). Fathers matter:
 Involving and engaging fathers in the child welfare system process. *Children and Youth Services Review 5*, 84-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.child
- Campbell-Grossman, C., Hudson, D. B., Kupzyk, K. A., Brown, S. E., Hanna, K. M., & Yates, B. C. (2016). Low-income, African American, adolescent mothers' depressive symptoms, perceived stress, and social support. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(7), 2306–2314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0386-9</u>

- Carmack, H. J., & Ahmed, R. (2019). Students' perceptions of provider cultural competence and communication with providers: Predictors of university health center patient satisfaction. *Journal of Health Communication*, 24(9), 719–727. https://doi- org/10.1080/10810730.2019.1666197
- Casillas, K. L., Fauchier, A., Derkash, B. T., & Garrido, E. F. (2016). Implementation of evidence-based home visiting programs aimed at reducing child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *53*, 64–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.10.009
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. The *Qualitative Report*, *21*(5), 811–831. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2
- Cénat, J. M., McIntee, S.-E., Mukunzi, J. N., & Noorishad, P.-G. (2021).
 Overrepresentation of black children in the child welfare system: A systematic review to understand and better act. *Children & Youth Services Review, 120*, N.PAG. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105714
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *About teen pregnancy*. https://www.cdc.gov/teenpregnancy/about/index.htm
- Cheng, T. C., & Lo, C. C. (2018). Racial disparities in the proportion of needed services maltreated children received. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 94, 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.09.036
- Child Welfare Information Gateway. (n.d.). *Evidence-based practice in child welfare*. https://www.childwelfare.gov/topics/management/practice-

improvement/evidence/ebp/

- Child Welfare League of America. (2017). *Iowa children 2017*. https://www.cwla.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/IOWA-revised-1.pdf
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1–20. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2/
- Christ, T. W. (2013). The worldview matrix as a strategy when designing mixed methods research. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 7(1), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.5172/mra.2013.7.1.110
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Qualitative research: Quality results? Journal of Advanced Nursing, 70, 711–713. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12172
- Clements-Nolle, K., Marx, R., & Katz, M. (2006). Attempted suicide among transgender persons: The influence of gender-based discrimination and victimization. *Journal* of Homosexuality, 51(3), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v51n03_04
- Coates, E. E., & Phares, V. (2014). Predictors of paternal involvement among nonresidential, Black fathers from low-income neighborhoods. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 15(2), 138–151. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032790
- Collins-Camargo, C., McBeath, B., & Ensign, K. (2011). Privatization and performancebased contracting in child welfare: Recent trends and implications for social service administrators. *Administration in Social Work*, 35(5), 494–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/03643107.2011.614531

Colvin, A. D., Saleh, M., Ricks, N., & Rosa-Davila, E. (2020). Using simulated

instruction to prepare students to engage in culturally competent practice. *Journal of Social Work in the Global Community*, *5*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.5590/JSWGC.2020.05.1.01

Combs, K. M., Aparicio, E. M., Prince, D. M., Grinnell-Davis, C., Marra, L., & Faulkner,
M. (2019). Evidence-based sexual health programs for youth involved with
juvenile justice and child welfare systems: Outcomes across settings. *Children & Youth Services Review, 100*, 64–69.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.02.032

- Constantinou, C., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (CoMeTS) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 17, 571–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(1), 89–91.

https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91

Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory Into Practice*, *39*(3), 124.

 $https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2$

- Crowther, S., Ironside, P., Spence, D., & Smythe, L. (2017). Crafting stories in hermeneutic phenomenology research: A methodological device. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 826–835. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316656161
- Curry, A. (2019). "If you can't be with this client for some years, don't do it": Exploring the emotional and relational effects of turnover on youth in the child welfare

system. Children and Youth Services Review, 99, 374–385.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.01.026

Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research. *Dimensions* of Critical Care Nursing, 36(4), 253–263.

https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000253

- D'Andrade, A. C., & Huong, N. (2014). The relationship between use of specific services, parental problems, and reunification with children placed in foster care. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 8(1), 51–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2013.824399
- Danso, R. (2018). Cultural competence and cultural humility: A critical reflection on key cultural diversity concepts. *Journal of Social Work*, 18(4), 410–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017316654341
- Davidson, R. D., Tomlinson, C. S., Beck, C. J., & Bowen, A. M. (2019). The revolving door of families in the child welfare system: Risk and protective factors associated with families returning. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 100, 468– 479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.03.012
- de Guzman, A., Carver-Roberts, T., Leake, R., & Rienks, S. (2020). Retention of child welfare workers: staying strategies and supports. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 14(1), 60–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2019.1683121
- DeLongis, A., & Zwicker, A. (2017). Marital satisfaction and divorce in couples in stepfamilies. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 13, 158–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.11.003

Dettlaff, A. J., & Boyd, R. (2021). Racial disproportionality and disparities in the child welfare system: Why do they exist, and what can be done to address them? *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 692, 253–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716220980329

Dettlaff, A. J., Washburn, M., Carr, L. "Christian," & Vogel, A. "Nikki." (2018). Lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) youth within in welfare: Prevalence, risk and outcomes. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 80, 183–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.03.009

- Diamond, L. M., & Butterworth, M. (2008). Questioning gender and sexual identity: Dynamic links over time. Sex Roles, 59, 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9425-3
- Dixson, A. D. (2018). "What's going on?": A critical race theory perspective on black lives matter and activism in education. *Urban Education*, 53(2), 231–247.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085917747115

- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419830990</u>
- Drew, N. (2004). Creating a synthesis of intentionality: The role of the bracketing facilitator. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *27*(3), 215–223.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-200407000-00006

Easton, V. J., & McColl, H. J. (1997). *Statistics glossary*. http://www.stats. gla.ac.uk/steps/glossary/hypothesis_testing.html

Ebneyamini, S., & Sadeghi Moghadam, M. R. (2018). Toward developing a framework

for conducting case study research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *17(1)*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918817954</u>

- Eisenberg, M. E., & Resnick, M. D. (2006). Suicidality among gay, lesbian, and bisexual youth: The role of protective factors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 39, 662–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.04.024
- Eldh, A. C., Årestedt, L., & Berterö, C. (2020). Quotations in qualitative studies:
 Reflections on constituents, custom, and purpose. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920969268
- Emiliussen, J., Engelsen, S., Christiansen, R., & Klausen, S. H. (2021). We are all in it!: Phenomenological qualitative research and embeddedness. *International Journal* of Qualitative Methods, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406921995304
- Ferguson, S., & Morley, P. (2011). Improving engagement in the role of father for homeless, noncustodial fathers: A program evaluation. *Journal of Poverty*, 15(2), 206–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2011.563175
- Fernandes, G. M. (2016). Organizational climate and child welfare workers' degree of intent to leave the job: Evidence from New York. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 60, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.11.010
- Fink, A. S. (2000). The role of the researcher in the qualitative research process. A potential barrier to archiving qualitative data. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 1*(3), 1–15. http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1021

Fisher, M. J., & Bloomfield, J. (2019). Understanding the research process. Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses' Association (JARNA), 22(1), 22–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.33235/jarna.22.1.22-27</u>

Fluke, J. D., Corwin, T. W., Hollinshead, D. M., & Maher, E. J. (2016). Family preservation or child safety? Associations between child welfare workers' experience, position, and perspectives. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 69, 210–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.08.012

- Fong, K. (2017). Child welfare involvement and contexts of poverty: The role of parental adversities, social networks, and social services. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 72, 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.10.011
- Font, S. (2013). Service referral patterns among black and white families involved with child protective services. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 7(4), 370–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2013.818087
- Fosco, G. M., & Bray, B. C. (2016). Profiles of cognitive appraisals and triangulation into interparental conflict: Implications for adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30, 533–542. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000192
- Frechette, J., Bitzas, V., Aubry, M., Kilpatrick, K., & Lavoie-Tremblay, M. (2020). Capturing lived experience: Methodological considerations for interpretive phenomenological inquiry. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920907254</u>
- Gallitto, E., Romano, E., & Drolet, M. (2018). Caregivers' perspectives on the SafeCare® programme: Implementing an evidence-based intervention for child

neglect. Child & Family Social Work, 23(2), 307-315.

https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12419

- Garcia, A. R., DeNard, C., Ohene, S., Morones, S. M., & Connaughton, C. (2018). "I am more than my past": Parents' attitudes and perceptions of the positive parenting program in child welfare. *Children & Youth Services Review, 88*, 286–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.03.023
- Garcia, A. R., DeNard, C., Morones, S. M., & Eldeeb, N. (2019). Mitigating barriers to implementing evidence-based interventions in child welfare: Lessons learned from scholars and agency directors. *Children and Youth Services Review, 100*, 313–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.03.005
- Garcia, A. R., Kim, M., Palinkas, L. A., Snowden, L., & Landsverk, J. (2016). Sociocontextual determinants of research evidence use in public-youth systems of care. *Administrative Policy of Mental Health*, 43, 569–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-015-0640-2
- George, S., Duran, N., & Norris, K. (2014). A systematic review of barriers and facilitators to minority research participation among African Americans, Latinos, Asian Americans, and Pacific Islanders. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(2), e16–e31. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301706

Gourdine, R. M. (2019). We treat everybody the same: Race equity in child welfare. Social Work in Public Health, 34(1), 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2018.1562400

GovTrack.us. (n.d.). H.R. 1892 — 115th Congress: H.R. 1892: Further Extension of

Continuing Appropriations Act, 2018; Department of Defense Appropriations Act, 2018. https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/115/hr1892

- Green, A. E., Trott, E., Willging, C. E., Finn, N. K., Ehrhart, M. G., & Aarons, G. A. (2016). The role of collaborations in sustaining an evidence-based intervention to reduce child neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 53, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.11.013
- Griffiths, A., & Royse, D. (2017). Unheard voices: Why former child welfare workers left their positions. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 11(1), 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2016.1232210

Griffiths, A., Royse, D., Culver, K., Piescher, K., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Who stays, who goes, who knows? A state-wide survey of child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 77, 110–117.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.04.01

- Hagen, J., Skenandore, A., Scow, B., Schanen, J., & Clary, F. (2012). Adolescent pregnancy prevention in a rural Native American community. *Journal of Family Social Work*, 15(1), 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2012.640926
- Handcock, M. S., & Gile, K. J. (2011). Comment: On the concept of snowball sampling. *Sociological Methodology*, 41(1), 367–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9531.2011.01243.x
- Hanson, R. F., Self-Brown, S., Rostad, W. L., & Jackson, M. C. (2016). The what, when, and why of implementation frameworks for evidence-based practices in child welfare and child mental health service systems. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 53, 51–

63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.09.014

- Harmon-Darrow, C., Burruss, K., & Finigan-Carr, N. (2020). "We are kind of their parents": Child welfare workers' perspective on sexuality education for foster youth. *Children & Youth Services Review, 108.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104565
- Haskett, M. E., Armstrong, J., Neal, S. C., & Aldianto, K. (2018). Perceptions of triple p-positive parenting program seminars among parents experiencing homelessness. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 27(6), 1957–1967. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1016-5
- He, A. S., Phillips, J. D., Lizano, E. L., Rienks, S., & Leake, R. (2018). Examining internal and external job resources in child welfare: Protecting against caseworker burnout. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *81*, 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.04.013
- Head, E. (2009). The ethics and implications of paying participants in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 12(4), 335–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570802246724
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 591–608. https://doi:10.1177/1049732316665344
- Holt, K., & Kelly, N. (2016). Why parents matter: Exploring the impact of a hegemonic concern with the timetable for the child. *Child & Family Social Work*, 21, 156–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12125

- Horwitz, S. M., Hurlburt, M. S., Goldhaber-Fiebert, J. D., Palinkas, L.A., Rolls-Reutz, J.,
 Zhang, J., Fisher, E., & Landsverk, J. (2014). Exploration and adoption of
 evidence-based practice by US child welfare agencies. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 39, 147–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.10.004
- Huang, C., Costeines, J., Kaufman, J., & Ayala, C. (2014). Parenting stress, social support, and depression for ethnic minority adolescent mothers: Impact on child development. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 23(2), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9807-1
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 1–10. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/jacob
- Jahja, A. S., Ramalu, S. S., & Razimi, M. S. A. (2021). Generic qualitative research in management studies. *Jurnal Riset Akuntansi Dan Bisnis*, 7(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.38204/jrak.v7i1.523
- Jani, J. S., Osteen, P., & Shipe, S. (2016). Cultural competence and social work education: Moving toward assessment of practice behaviors. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 52(3), 311–324.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2016.1174634

Janelle, F., P., Carolyn J., S., Catherine A., C., Holly P., K., & Carmen J., P. (2014). Weaving dreamcatchers: Mothering among American Indian women who were teen mothers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *1*, 153. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12180 Jenner, B. M., & Myers, K. C. (2018). Intimacy, rapport, and exceptional disclosure: A comparison of in-person and mediated interview contexts. *International Journal* of Social Research Methodology, 22(2), 165–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1512694

Jeynes, W. H. (2015). A meta-analysis: The relationship between father involvement and

student academic achievement. *Urban Education*, *50*(4), 387–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914525789

- Johnco, C., Salloum, A., Olson, K. R., & Edwards, L. M. (2014). Child welfare workers' perspectives on contributing factors to retention and turnover: Recommendations for improvement. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 47(3), 397–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.10.1016
- Johnston-Goodstar., K. (2013). Indigenous youth participatory action research: Revisioning social justice for social work with indigenous youths. *Social Work*, 58(4), 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swt036
- Julien-Chinn, F. J., & Lietz, C. A. (2019). Building learning cultures in the child welfare workforce. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 99, 360–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.01.023
- Kaasboll, J., & Paulsen, V. (2019). What is known about the LGBTQ perspective in child welfare services? A scoping review protocol. *BMJ Open*, 9(9), e030675. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030675
- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodological mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1),

37-52. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300119

- Kahlke, R. (2018). Reflection/commentary on a past article: Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodological mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788193
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Social Sciences*, 8(9), 255. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8090255</u>
- Kearney, M. S., & Levine, P. B. (2012). Why is the teen birth rate in the United States so high and why does it matter? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 26(2), 141–166. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.26.2.141
- Kelly, D. (2018). Generative fatherhood and children's future civic engagement: A conceptual model of the relationship between paternal engagement and child's developing prosocial skills. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 28(3), 303–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2017.1418469
- Kerr, C., Nixo, A., & Wild, D. (2010). Assessing and demonstrating data saturation in qualitative inquiry supporting patient-reported outcomes research. *Expert Review* of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research; London, 10(3), 269–281. https://doi.org/10.1586/erp.10.30
- Kids Count Data Center. (2019). *KIDS COUNT data center from the Annie E. Casey foundation*. https://datacenter.kidscount.org/updates/show/264-us-foster-carepopulation-by-race-and-ethnicity

Kim, H., & Drake, B. (2018). Child maltreatment risk as a function of poverty and race/ethnicity in the USA. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 47, 780–787. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyx280

King, B., Fallon, B., Boyd, R., Black, T., Antwi-Boasiako, K., & O, C. C. (2017). Factors associated with racial differences in child welfare investigative decision-making in Ontario, Canada. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 73, 89–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.09.027

- Klever, P. (2009). The primary triangle and variation in nuclear family functioning. *Contemporary Family Therapy: An International Journal*, *31*(2), 140–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10591-008-9082-2
- Klonoff, E. A., Landrine, H., & Ullman, J. B. (1999). Racial discrimination and psychiatric symptoms among blacks. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 5(4), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.5.4.329
- Knauth, D. G. (2003). Family secrets: An illustrative clinical case study guided by Bowen family systems theory. *Journal of Family Nursing*, 9(3), 331–344.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1074840703255451
- Kokaliari, E. D., Roy, A. W., & Taylor, J. (2019). African American perspectives on racial disparities in child removals. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 90, 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.12.023
- Kolivoski, K. M., Weaver, A., & Constance-Huggins, M. (2014). Critical race theory:
 Opportunities for application in social work practice and policy. *Families in Society*, 95(4), 269–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1606/1044-3894.2014.95.36</u>

- Korja, R., Piha, J., Otava, R., Lavanchy-Scaiola, C., Ahlqvist-Björkroth, S., Aromaa, M., & Räihä, H. (2016). Mother's marital satisfaction associated with the quality of mother-father-child triadic interaction. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *57*, 305–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12294
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
 120–124. http://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kozleski, E. B. (2017). The uses of qualitative research. *Research & Practice for Persons* with Severe Disabilities, 42(1), 19–32.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796916683710

- Krouwel, M., Jolly, K., & Greenfield, S. (2019). Comparing Skype (video calling) and inperson qualitative interview modes in a study of people with irritable bowel syndrome - an exploratory comparative analysis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), N.PAG. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0867-9</u>
- Lamela, D., Figueiredo, B., Bastos, A., & Feinberg, M. (2016). Typologies of postdivorce coparenting and parental well-being, parenting quality and children's psychological adjustment. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 47, 716–728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-015-0604-5
- Landers, A. L., McLuckie, A., Cann, R., Shapiro, V., Visintini, S., MacLaurin, B., Trocmé, N., Saini, M., & Carrey, N. J. (2018). A scoping review of evidencebased interventions available to parents of maltreated children ages 0-5 involved with child welfare services. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 76, 546–560.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.09.012

Larkin, M., Shaw, R., & Flowers, P. (2019). Multiperspectival designs and processes in interpretative phenomenological analysis research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 16(2), 182–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540655

Lawrence, C. K., Zeitlin, W., Auerbach, C., Chakravarty, S., & Rienks, S. (2019).
 Measuring the impact of public perceptions on child welfare workers. *Journal of Public Child Welfare, 13*(4), 401–418.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2018.1508537

- Leventhal, T., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003). Moving to opportunity: An experimental study of neighborhood effects on mental health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*(9), 1576–1582. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.93.9.1576
- Lewis, E. M., Hooley, C., Feely, M., Lanier, P., Korff, S. J., & Kohl, P. L. (2020). Engaging child welfare-involved families in evidence-based interventions to address child disruptive behavior disorders. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 28(1), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426618806253
- Lindell, K. U., Sorenson, C. K., & Mangold, S. V. (2020). The family first prevention services act: A new era of child welfare reform. *Public Health Reports*, 135(2), 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354919900892
- Lohr, W. D., Davis, D. W., Rich, C. A., Ryan, L., Jones, V. F., Williams, P. G., Lui, G. C., Woods, C. R., Sonderman, N., Pasquenza, N., & Brothers, K. B. (2019).
 Addressing the mental healthcare needs of foster children: Perspectives of stakeholders from the child welfare system. *Journal of Public Child*

Welfare, 13(1), 84-100. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2018.1477651

Lovato-Hermann, K., Dellor, E., Tam, C. C., Curry, S., & Freisthler, B. (2017). Racial disparities in service referrals for families in the child welfare system. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, *11*(2), 133–149.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2016.1251372

- Lundahl, B. W., Nimer, J., & Parsons, B. (2006). Preventing child abuse: A meta-analysis of parent training programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 16, 251–262. https://doi.org/10.1777/1049731505284391
- MacKenzie, M. J., Kotch, J. B., Lee, L., Augsberger, A., & Hutto, N. (2011). A cumulative ecological–transactional risk model of child maltreatment and behavioral outcomes: Reconceptualizing early maltreatment report as risk factor. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *33*, 2392–2398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.08.030
- Manuel, J. K., Hagedorn, H. J., & Finney, J. W. (2011). Implementing evidence-based psychosocial treatment in specialty substance use disorder care. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors: Journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviors*, 25(2), 225–237. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022398
- Manyam, S. B., Davis, T. L., & Mitchell, C. D. (2020). Trauma group therapy with African American children and adolescents: A 30-plus year content analysis. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 45(1), 56–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2019.1699619</u>

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in

qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in Is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11–22.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667

- Matthews, J. J., Barden, S. M., & Sherrell, R. S. (2018). Examining the relationships between multicultural counseling competence, multicultural self-efficacy, and ethnic identity development of practicing counselors. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 40(2), 129–141. https://doi.org/10.7744/mehc.40.2.03
- McCormick, A., Schmidt, K., & Terrazas, S. (2017). LGBTQ youth in the child welfare system: An overview of research, practice, and policy. *Journal of Public Child Welfare, 11*(1), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2016.1221368
- McKeganey, N. (2001). To pay or not to pay: Respondents' motivation for participating in research. *Addiction*, *96*(9), 1237–1238.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2001.96912371.x

- McNamee, C. B., Amato, P., & King, V. (2014). Nonresident father involvement with children and divorced women's likelihood of remarriage. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 76, 862–874. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12118
- Mechanic, D. (2005). Policy challenges in addressing racial disparities and improving population health. *Health Affairs*, 24(2), 335–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.33</u>5
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*.
 Jossey-Bass. Mersky, J. P., Topitzes, J., & Blair, K. (2017). Translating evidence-based treatments into child welfare services through community-university

partnerships: A case example of parent-child interaction therapy. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 82, 427–433.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.10.002

- Mersky, J. P., Topitzes, J., & Blair, K. (2017). Translating evidence-based treatments into child welfare services through community-university partnerships: A case example of parent-child interaction therapy. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 82, 427–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.10.002
- Meyer, K., & Willis, R. (2019). Looking back to move forward: The value of reflexive journaling for novice researchers. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 62(5), 578–585. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2018.1559906
- Minuchin, P. (1985). Families and individual development: provocations from the field of family therapy. *Child Development*, 56(2), 289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.ep7251588</u>
- Myers, C., Garcia, A., Beidas, R., Trinh, X., & Yang, Z. (2019). A theory of planned behavior exploration of child welfare caseworker referrals to an evidence-based parenting program. *Journal of Social Service Research*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2019.1705458
- Mosher, D. K., Hook, J. N., Captari, L. E., Davis, D. E., DeBlaere, C., & Owen, J.
 (2017). Cultural humility: A therapeutic framework for engaging diverse clients. *Practice Innovations*, 2(4), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/pri0000055
- Nathoo, S., Shaw, D. G., & Sandy, P. T. (2021). Determinants of compassion in providing care to older people: Educational implications. *Nurse Education*

Today, 101, N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104878

- National Association of Social Workers. (2021). *Code of ethics*. https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English
- National Institute of Mental Health. (n.d.). Mental illness.

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness.shtml

- Negash, T., & Maguire-Jack, K. (2016). Do social services matter for child maltreatment prevention? Interactions between social support and parent's knowledge of available local social services. *Journal of Family Violence*, *31*(5), 557–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9788-5
- Novak, J. R., Johnson, A., Gast, J., Peak, T., & Arnell, M. (2021). A qualitative inquiry on religious married men's perceptions of relationship dynamics during everyday sickness. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *26*(11), 2040–2055.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105319900277

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Olcoń, K. (2019). State of the art in US multicultural social work practice: Client expectations and provider challenges. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work: Innovation in Theory, Research & Practice, 28*(1), 7–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2019.1570893

Oppenheim-Weller, S., & Zeira, A. (2018). SafeCare in Israel: The challenges of

implementing an evidence-based program. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 85, 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.12.031

- Park, T., & Pierce, B. (2020). Impacts of transformational leadership on turnover intention of child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104624
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods*. Sage.
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76–85. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2097&context=tqr/
- Perez-Jolles, M., Givens, A., Lombardi, B., & Cuddeback, G. S. (2019). Welfare caseworkers' perceived responsibility for the behavioral needs of children: A national profile. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 98, 80–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.12.023
- Petren, R. E., Ferraro, A. J., Davis, T. R., & Pasley, K. (2017). Factors linked with coparenting support and conflict after divorce. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 58, 145–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/10502556.2017.1300013
- Pickering, J. A., & Sanders, M. R. (2016). Reducing child maltreatment by making parenting programs available to all parents: A case example using the triple ppositive parenting program. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 17*(4), 398–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838016658876
- Plankey-Videla, N. (2012). Informed consent as process: Problematizing informed consent in organizations ethnographies. *Journal of Qualitative Sociology*, *35*(1),

1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-011-9212-2</u>

- Potter, M. H., & Font, S. A. (2019). Parenting influences on adolescent sexual risktaking: Differences by child welfare placement status. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 96, 134–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.11.038</u>
- Poulis, K., Poulis, E., & Plakoyiannaki, E. (2013). The role of context in case study selection: An international business perspective. *International Business Review*, 22(1), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.04.003
- Powell, A. J., & Thomas. S., (2021). How the livewell dorset lifestyle behaviour change service influences older adults' physical activity behaviour: A generic qualitative study. *Public Health in Practice*, 2(100164-). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhip.2021.100164

Proctor, E. (2012). Implementation science and child maltreatment: Methodological advances. *Child Maltreatment*, *17*(1), 107–112.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559512437034

Pryce, J., Lee, W., Crowe, E., Park, D., McCarthy, M., & Owens, G. (2019). A case study in public child welfare: County-level practices that address racial disparity in foster care placement. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, *13*, 35–59. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2018.1467354</u>

Rao Hermon, S., Biehl, M., & Chahla, R. (2018). Views on workplace culture and climate: Through the lens of retention and Title IV-E participation. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, *12*(3), 380–397.
https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2018.1431172

- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage Publications.
- Reece, R. L. (2019). Color crit: Critical race theory and the history and future of colorism in the United States. *Journal of Black Studies*, 50(1), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934718803735
- Reid, A.-M., Brown, J. M., Smith, J. M., Cope, A. C., & Jamieson, S. (2018). Ethical dilemmas and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 7(2), 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0412-2
- Rennie, D. (2012). Qualitative research as methodical hermeneutics. *Psychological Methods*, *17*(3), 385–398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029250</u>
- Rice, A., Kim, J. Y. C., Nguyen, C., Liu, W. M., Fall, K., & Galligan, P. (2017).
 Perceptions of masculinity and fatherhood among men experiencing homelessness. *Psychological Services*, *14*(2), 257.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000134
- Richard, J. Y., & Lee, H.-S. (2019). A qualitative study of racial minority single mothers' work experiences. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 66(2), 143–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000315</u>
- Richardson, S. M., & Yates, T. M. (2019). Characterizing communication between transition-aged foster youth and their social workers. *Journal of Social Work*, 19(3), 372–396. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017318762093
- Roman, P., Rodriguez-Arrastia, M., Molina-Torres, G., Márquez-Hernández, V. V., Gutiérrez-Puertas, L., Ropero-Padilla, C. (2020). The escape room as evaluation

method: A qualitative study of nursing students' experiences. *Medical Teacher*, 42(4), 403–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2019.1687865</u>

- Rosario, M., Schrimshaw, E.W., Hunter, J., & Gwadz, M. (2002). Gay-related stress and emotional distress among gay, lesbian, bisexual youths: A longitudinal examination. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70(4), 967–975. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006X.70.4.000
- Rothbaum, F., Rosen, K., Ujiie, T., & Uchida, N. (2002). Family systems theory, attachment theory, and culture. *Family Process*, *41*(3), 328–350. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2002.41305.x
- Roulston, K. (2018). Qualitative interviewing and epistemics. *Qualitative Research*, *18*(3), 322–341. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117721738
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S., A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(4), 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414563803
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE.
- Sanders, M. R. (2012). Development, evaluation, and multinational dissemination of the Triple P Positive Parenting Program. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 8, 345–379. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143104
- Sanders, M. R., Kirby, J. N., Tellegen, C. L., & Day, J. J. (2014). The Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a multi-level

system of parenting support. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *34*(4), 337–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2014.04.003

- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Barg, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 14. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4263394/
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4(1), 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME- D-11-00307.1</u>
- Scannapieco, M., Painter, K. R., & Blau, G. (2018). A comparison of LGBTQ youth and heterosexual youth in the child welfare system: Mental health and substance abuse occurrence and outcomes. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 91, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.05.016
- Sedgh, G., Finer, L. B., Bankole, A., Eilers, M. A., & Singh, S. (2015). Adolescent pregnancy, birth, and abortion rates across countries: Levels and recent trends. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(2), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.09.007
- Self-Brown, S., Osborne, M. C., Boyd, C., Jr., Brown, N. D., Rostad, W., Patterson, A., Baker, E., Thomas, A., McAdam, E. M., Jackson, M., Glasheen, T. L., & Lai, B. (2018). The impact of SafeCare (R) Dads to Kids program on father maltreatment risk and involvement: Outcomes and lessons learned from an efficacy trial. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 83, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.06.014

- Serra, M., Psarra, S., & O'Brien, J. (2018). Social and physical characterization of urban contexts: Techniques and methods for quantification, classification, and purposive sampling. Urban Planning, 3(1), 58–74. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v3i1.1269
- Shapiro, C. J., Prinz, R. J., & Sanders, M. R. (2015). Sustaining use of an evidence-based parenting intervention: Practitioner perspectives. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(6), 1615–1624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-014-9965-9
- Schunk, D. H., & DiBenedetto, M. K. (2020). Motivation and social cognitive theory. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 60, N.PAG. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101832
- Skowron, E. A., Kozlowski, J. E., & Pincus, A. L. (2010). Differentiation, self-other representations, and rupture-repair processes: Predicting child maltreatment risk. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57, 304–316. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020030
- Skowron, E. A., & Platt, L. F. (2005). Differentiation of self and child abuse potential in young adulthood. *The Family Journal: Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families*, 13, 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480705276314
- Slevitch, L. (2011). Qualitative and quantitative methodologies compared: Ontological and epistemological perspectives. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 12(1), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2011.541810
- Smith, B. D. (2005). Job retention in child welfare: Effects of perceived organizational support, supervisor support, and intrinsic job value. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 27(2), 153–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2004.08.013

- Smith, J., & Firth, J. (2011). Qualitative data analysis: The framework approach. Nurse Researcher, 18(2), 52–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.52.c8284</u>
- Starks, H., & Brown Trinidad, S. (2007). Choose your method: A comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(10), 1372–1380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307307031
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., Barrett, M.

(2018). Reflection/commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *17*, 1–2.

https://doi.org10.1177/1609406918788237

- Stith, S., Liu, T., Davies, C., Boykin, E., Alder, M., Harris, J., & Dees, J. E. (2009). Risk factors in child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Aggression* and Violent Behavior, 14, 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2006.03.006
- Sykes, B., Verma, A., & Hancock, B. (2018). Aligning sampling and case selection in quantitative-qualitative research designs: Establishing generalizability limits in 132 mixed-method studies. *Ethnography*, 19(2), 227–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138117725341
- Tauri, J. M. (2017). Research ethics, informed consent and the disempowerment of First Nation peoples. *Research Ethics*, 14(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016117739935
- Temcheff, C. E., Letarte, M. J., Boutin, S., & Marcil, K. (2018). Common components of evidence-based parenting programs for preventing maltreatment of school-age

children. Child Abuse & Neglect, 80, 226-237.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.02.004

- Testa, M. F., & Kelly, D. (2020). The evolution of federal child welfare policy through the family first prevention services act of 2018: Opportunities, barriers, and unintended consequences. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 692, 68–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716220976528</u>
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 16, 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x

Thompson, H. M., & Colvin, M. L. (2017). Perceived needs of therapeutic service providers in their work with families in the child welfare system. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 35, 57–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-017-0506-4

Thompson, H. M., Wojciak, A. S., & Cooley, M. E. (2019). Family-based approach to the child welfare system: An integration of Bowen family theory concepts. *Journal of Family Social Work*, 22(3), 231–252.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2019.1584776

- Thrope, A. S. (2014). Doing the right thing or doing the thing right: Implications of participant withdrawal. Organizational Research Methods, 17, 255–277. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428114524828
- Thyer, B. A., Babcock, P., & Tutweiler, M. (2017). Locating research-supported interventions for child welfare practice. *Child and Adolescent Social Work*

Journal, 34, 85-94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-016-0478-9

- Timmer, S. G., Borrego, J. J., & Urquiz, A. J. (2002). Antecedents of coercive interactions in physically abusive mother-child dyads. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 17, 836–853. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260502017008003
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 11(1), 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2018, February 1). *Child Maltreatment, 2016*.

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/resource/child-maltreatment-2016

 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2017, October 20). *The AFCARS Report, 2016*.

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/afcarsreport24.pdf

United States Census Bureau. (2018). Selected social characteristics in the United States. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/all?q=single%20parents&hidePreview=false&tid= ACSDP1Y2018.DP02

United States Census Bureau. (2019, July 1). *Quick facts: Iowa*. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/ia/PST045217

United States Census Bureau. (2020, April 1). *Quick facts: Persons under 18 percentage* https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/RHI225219#RHI225219

Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic

analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing Health Science*, *15*(3), 398–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12048</u>

- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vesely, C. K., Ewaida, M., & Anderson, E. A. (2014). Cultural competence of parenting education programs used by Latino families: A review. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 36(1), 27–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986313510694</u>
- Vogt Yuan, A. (2016). Father–child relationships and nonresident fathers' Psychological distress: What helps and what hurts? *Journal of Family Issues*, 37, 603–621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X14526394</u>
- Walden University. (2010). Institutional review board for ethical standards in research. http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec

Weegar, K., Moorman, J., Stenason, L., & Romano, E. (2018). Perspectives on the implementation of an evidence-based neglect program within child welfare. *Children & Youth Services Review*, *93*, 474–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.08.035

Whitaker, D. J., Rogers-Brown, J. S., Cowart-Osborne, M., Self-Brown, S., & Lutzker, J.
R. (2015). Public child welfare staff knowledge, attitudes, and referral behaviors for an evidence-based parenting program. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 24, 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psi.2015.06.001

- Wilke, D. J., Radey, M., King, E., Spinelli, C., Rakes, S., & Nolan, C. R. (2018). A multi-level conceptual model to examine child welfare worker turnover and retention decisions. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, *12*(2), 204–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2017.1373722</u>
- Williams, D. R., & Jackson, P. B. (2005). Social sources of racial disparities in health. *Health Affairs*, 24(2), 325–334. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.325
- Williams, S. E., Nichols, Q. I., Kirk, A., & Wilson, T. (2011). A recent look at the factors influencing workforce retention in public child welfare. *Children & Youth Services Review, 33*(1), 157–160.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.08.028

- Willis, N., Chavkin, N., & Leung, P. (2016). Finding "health" and "meaning" in Texassized turnover: Application of seminal management principles for administration and research in US public child welfare agencies. *Advances in Social Work*, *17*(2), 116–133. https://doi.org/10.18060/20856
- Yampolskaya, S., Robst, J., & Armstrong, M. I. (2020). High cost child welfare cases: Child characteristics and child welfare services. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104853
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:
 epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48(2), 311–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014</u>
- Zeitlin, W. (2014). Factors impacting perceptions of organizational cultural competence in voluntary child welfare. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 44, 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.05.006

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Good evening

I would like to thank you for participating in this qualitative research study. My name is John Dyrkacz, and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University. I am conducting a research study on the perceptions of human services case workers. The purpose of this study is to explore human service case workers' perceptions of working with clients. This telephonic or Zoom interview process will take about 45 to 60 minutes. There are no right or wrong answers to the questions, as I want to hear about your experiences and perceptions. You may skip a question any time you feel uncomfortable answering. I want you to be candid. It is hoped that the findings will contribute useful information to address issues identified in the information you provide. The comments you provide are confidential; I will not use your name in any description or summary that I write. I will also record this interview to help me make sure my notes and transcriptions are accurate. If at any time you become uncomfortable or want to stop this interview at any time without any consequences. I should already have consent forms for your participation in this study. (I will confirm that consent forms are obtained). Do I have your permission to record this interview? Do you have any questions before we begin? Interview Questions:

- As a human services worker, how would you describe your experiences of working within the child welfare system an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S.?
- 2) What does cultural competency mean to you?

161

- 3) What role does cultural competency play in your day-to-day work experience as a human services worker in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S.?
- 4) How do you understand and interpret the meaning of culture and cultural differences about the clients you serve?
 - a. How do you think other human service workers understand and interpret the meaning of culture and cultural differences in the clients they serve?
- 5) How does the cultural differences impact the engagement process and the service delivery process?
- 6) In what ways do culturally sensitive, evidence-based services currently impact your minority clients?
- 7) As a human services worker, how would you describe the benefits of the cultural sensitivity/awareness trainings you have received from this state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States?
 - a. How would you describe the disadvantages of the cultural sensitivity/awareness trainings you have received from this state in the Upper Midwest section of the United States?
 - b. Where have you seen the gaps in cultural sensitivity/awareness trainings?
- 8) How do you think the delivery of services impact minority children and Caucasian children and their families differently in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S.?

- 9) What are your perceptions of providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S.?
 - a. How would you describe the improvements in services to African American families?
- 10) What other thoughts or ideas would you like to share with me concerning cultural competency as a human services worker?

This concludes our interview today. Thank you for participating in this research study. Do you have any final thoughts or any questions? Feel free to contact me if you have any concerns. I will contact you, if we need to follow up for further discussion about any of your answers. Thank you again for your time and for participating in this study. Appendix B: Recruitment Flyer



RECRUITMENT FLYER

Interview study seeks Human Services Case Workers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system

For this study, you are invited to share your perceptions of

providing culturally sensitive, evidence-based services to African

American families and children in an Upper Midwest urban setting

in the U.S. child welfare system to improve services to families

About the study:

• One 45-to-60-minute telephone or ZOOM semi-structured interview that will be audio recorded

• To protect your privacy, the published study would use fake names

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- Human Services Case Workers in an Upper Midwest urban setting in the U.S. child welfare system
- 21 years old or older

These interviews are part of the doctoral study for John Dyrkacz, a Ph.D. student at Walden University. Interviews will take place during March and April 2022.

To confidentially volunteer, contact the researcher: John Dyrkacz 813-453-9860

or john.dyrkacz@waldenu.edu